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Financial highlights

Turnover 2006 £232 4m}

£310.3m
+34%

Profit before tax (2006 £29 7m)

£41.8m
+41%

Earrungs per share (2006 37 9p)

494p
+30%
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About us

Diverse, global, dynamic are just some of the words
currently used 1o describe the sector in which we operate
—and we'd agree.

As the real estate market continues to evolve and diversify
it develops new challenges, and with these arise the
opportunities for us to deliver new and innovative solutions
for our Clients.

We're here to lead, guide and advise on all aspects of real
estate, from pioneering financial product development

for the investor to remaining the safe and knowledgeable
pair of hands for the occupier.

Operating in 45 countries from 140 cities, we offer a fruly
global solution wherever and in whichever real estate sector
we are required. Qur system and partners provide clients
with a team of 11,000 people, who are always ready to
tailor and implement individual solutions.

With over 220 years’ history, expertise and track record
and 20 years’ experience of delivering for our shareholders,
DTZ knows its markets.

Mission Vision Values

To work with clients to To be a leading global »ntegrity

create leading edge adviser renowned » Teamwork
property, Invesimerit for exceptional »Service excellence
and business solutions clent service »Creativity
worldwide » Enjoyment

»Make 1t happen
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Qur strategy

Qur strategy 1s driven by our wision to be a leading
global real estate adwiser renowned for exceptional
cliert service

Delvenng service excellence and innovabion across
the markets where our clients need us s key to
achieving this, as 1s continuing our global growth

1- Services

We believe the best way to grow the business

1s through a strategy which balances organic
development and considered acquistion

This approach allows us to ensure that as we
broaden and integrate our geographic and skl
offenng, the team we build shares the same values,
and continues the excellent client relationships on
which our business 1s built

Caprtal Markets

Investment and asset management managing
portfolios on behalf of chents, investment agency
buying and seling properties on behalf of clients,
and corporate finance adwvising on capital raising
and real estate finance and indirect vehicles

Valuation

Valuation for company accounts, due diigence,
loan secunty, mergers & acquistions and
statutory valuation for compulsory purchase
and local taxation

Occupational & Development Markets
Activity includes leasing, landiord and tenant
adwvice, advising on development projects and
acquinng and disposing of space for major
corporate clients

Frofessional Services

Property and faciltes management on behalf

of landlords and large occupiers, general building
consultancy advice and project management

Consulting & Research

Economic and property market analysis, integrated
development, investor and corporate consultancy
and comprehensive research services
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2-> Regions

EMEA

Asia Pacfic

The Amencas

Cur strategy
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3- Global relationships

At DTZ we realise that the strength of our ciient
relatonships 1s our competitive advantage and
key to both our success and future growth

A system of over 11,000 pecple, operating from
140 cties 10 45 countnes, provides a global team
that 1s ¢constantly on hand to service client needs

With the rapid globahsation of our client base

we are now instructed on increasing numbers

of global mandates and consistency and integration
of service delivery across our regions Is essential

to making this work

Everything we do is underpinned by service
excellence, teamwork and integrity, three of our
corporate values, which are delvered wia our first
class clent relationship management programme

THE CHURCH COMMISSIONERS SEGRO RUBICON

FORENGLAND

Senaces provided Services provided Senrnces prowded

Caprtal Markets ] Capntal Markets . Capital Markets b
Valsation Valuation . Valuation .
Occupatonal & Occupational & Occupatonal &

Development Markets . Development Markets . Development Markets °
Professional Services c Professional Senices . Prolessonal Servces -
Consuling & Research . Consultng & Research . Consultng & Research b
Countnes 9 Countnes 12 Counines 8
Relatonshp ‘ength years) 17 Relstonshp lengthyears) 12 Relatonship length fears) 2

PFIZER INC HSBGC

Services provded Senices provded

Capual Markets . Capital Markets .
Vakuahon . Valuaton .
Occupatonal & Occupatonal &

Develcpment Markets . Development Markets .
Professional Servces . Professional Senraces .
Consuitng & Research . Consuling & Research .
Countnes i8 Countres i

Relatonship length years) 15

Retauonshyp ‘ength fyears) 10
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PROLOGIS DAWNAY DAY PROPERTY LONDON & REGIONAL ELECTRONIC ARTS

INVESTMENT LIMITED PROPERTIES
Services provided Seraces provded Servces provided Services provided
Capial Markets 9 Capital Markets . Capital Markets . Capitat Markets
Valuation . Valuation . Vahuation . Valuation
Occupational & Occupatonal & Occupational & Occupational &
Development Markeats . Development Markets . Development Markets . Development Markets
Professional Services . Professional Services . Profassional Senaces . Professional Services
Consutting & Research L) Consuiting & Research . Consutting & Research . Consultng & Research
Countries 9 Countries 7 Countries 7 Countres 21

Relationship length fyears) 10 Relationship length (years) 10 Relationship length (years) 10 Relatonship length {years) 3

U'S DEPARTMENT OF STATE RENTCKIL INITIAL

Servces provided Sernces provided

Capital Markets ® Captal Markets
Valuation . Valuabon
Qccupatonal & Occupatonal &
Development Markets . Development Markets
Professional Servces - Professional Servces
Consulting & Research . Consulting & Research . Note
Not all services are provided
Countres il Counines s n all locations and DTZ 1 not
Relatonship length fyears) 8 Relatonship length (monthis) 11 always the exclusive adviser
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4- People

“Undertaking the Bulding4Success
programme contrbuted a great deal
N prepang me for the challenges
and dwersity of my current role ”
Colin Thomasson New York, USA

“To fulfil our client promise that we
are flexible, global, focused on their
needs and easy to work with, we
must first mest these requirements
with our people”

Agneta Jacobsson Stockholm, Sweden

Developing leadership

Colin took part in the first senior management
fraining programme, Bulding4Success, and

has now transierred from the Investment team

in Manchester, to become head of DTZ Real Estate
Investors in New York

Developing leadership capabiity at DTZ s a

key objectve and we have recently commenced our
third Building4Success programme It ts designed
to support the professional development of DTZ
people with high-potental The participants value
the nvestment in ther development and the
opportunity to gan insight into a number of
business refated topics including sirategic planning
and financial management Mentored by members
of DTZ's group executve team, participants are
each assigned a business project to undertake

Flexible working

DTZ believes the key to delivering service
excellence 15 ensunng our people have a healthy
balance between home and work, and feel that
they are suttably valued and rewarded

DTZ 1s developing and rolling out vanous ways of
working more flexibly {0 ensure wherever possible
employees are supported to work In a way which
meets both the needs of DTZ as a business

and indduals' different lifestyle needs and
circumstances, be it through part-ume working,
job-shanng or home-working

It 1s these differences that make DTZ a dynamic
and forward thinking organisation encouraging
mertocracy, dversity and inclusion at all tevels
Agnetas a key member of DTZ's Positive Action
Group, a commurication forum with representatves
from EMEA to make sure DTZ continuously evolves
and develops iis people policies for the benefit

of all ts stakeholders
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“DTZ recognises its people as iis
most valuable global asset and
challenges you to develop a career
wherever you choose to go.”
Comne Toh London, England

“The Foundation4Success
programme really gave me an
understanding of how to develop
my career at DTZ and how the
company would guide and support
me N reaching my full potentel.”

Andrew Philips Cardiff, Wales

Global mobility

The value to both the indwidual and company

of global secondments has long been recognised
at DTZ and over the past 12 months the number
of people working abroad has increased to 70,
seconded in 24 countnes across the world

Comne has travelled from Singapore to work In

the Global Corporate Services team in London

With expert guidance from the HR team, employees
can be moved around the world more effectvely

to better match the strategic needs of the business
with indviduals’ career development plans and
personal goals

Retaining talent

During 2006, DTZ launched FoundationdSuccess,
a talent development workshop that focuses

on the career ptanning and development of all those
completing the DTZ Graduate Traning Scheme
Andrew 1s one of the first graduates to take parnt

The graduates are given the chance to consider
ther career expectations and goals, evaluate
nternal job opportunities and create personal
development plans This encourages motvation
and dedication, leading to hugher retention levels
The programme also allows DTZ to share and
embed the strategy with graduates, and
demonsirate the value and commitment placed
on them by laying the career foundations for those
who will shape the future of DTZ

Our strateqy
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Chaimman’s overview
Year to 30 April 2007

Introduction

DTZ again achigved record results in the year to
30 April 2007, with a 40 9% nse n pre tax profits
and a 17 9% increase in the proposed total
dmdend

A year ago, | highlighted three key themes which
are central to our success and which should
continue to position the group well for the future
They feature very strongly in our recent
performance, cur current plans, and our strategy
going forward, recurnng regularly throughout this
report They are

¢ The development of our global platform,

* The growing scale and complexty of the semces
we offer, and

s The wital mportance of employing the
best people

Results

Tumover rose 33 5% dunng the year to

£310 3 mithon (2006 £232 4 milion} Profit before
tax was £41 8 millon (2006 £29 7 millon), an
increase of 40 9% The figures {or the year include
the receipt of incentive fees of £3 1 millon and a
capttal gan of £0 7 milion totaling £3 8 millon from
the continung substantial realisation of our Nterest
in Curzon Caprtal Partners and associated fees

Qur overall tax rate reduced further from 31 9%
to 31 3% as a result of further efficiencies and
our mix of profits

Basic earnings per share increased by 30 4% to
49 4 pence from 37 9 pence

The net cash posttion at 30 Apnl 2007 was

£24 O million (2006 £30 3 millon) The net
decrease in the year of only £6 3 milion 15 after
cash acquisttion costs of £26 9 million, and
therefore clearly demonsirates the cash generatve
nature of the business, our strong balance sheet
and financial capacity to achieve our strategic goals

On the strength of these results and ongoing
excellent progress across the group, the board

15 recommending a 14 3% increase i the final
dnadend to 8 00 pence (2006 7 00 pence),
representing a nse of 17 9% n the total dwvidend
for the year to 11 50 pence (2006 9 75 pence)
This also represents an improvement in the balance
between our ntenm and final dvadends, which was
anticipated in my review last year

These results reflect strong performances across
the group A number of our European businesses
are growing very strongly (in both turnover and
profitabilty), notably France, Germany and Poland,
and our market-leading associate business I

The Netherlands had another excellent year

In Asia Pacffic, our South East Asia business
performed excepticnally well and good progress
was made In Australa, India and Japan Our North
Asian business, which i1s now a wholly cwned
subsidiary, achieved a significant increase In
turnover This, and the growth of our Indian
business, underlines the importance of our
investrments in new markets

In the United States, DTZ Rockwood made a loss
in the year, reflecting both the tme and commitment
dedicated to integration with the group and ts
significant expansion In addition, these figures do
not take into account some substantial business
opportunities generated by DTZ Rockwood for the
group n other parts of the world

Strategy

We work with clents to create leading edge
property, Investment and business solutions
worldwide As predicted some years ago, many of
our corporate clents are erther mowving the current
management of therr real estate from a regional
basis towards a fully global approach or seeking
the ability to access global services as needed
Most notably, investor clients are increasmgly
favounng cross-border and inter-regional
transactions to enhance returns and spread risk
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From left Tim Metvlle-Ross group charman and Mark Struckett group
chief executive in front of 30 St Mary Axe, London, sold by Swiss Re for
£600m adwised by DTZ

This trend 1 mirrored by the two key strands to
our strategic developrment, namely geographic
expansion and the breadth and depth of our
service offenng

We made great stndes n our geographic
development dunng the year, principally through
the acquisition of a 50% interest in DTZ Rockwood
in the Unrted States, and the purchase of the
remaning 70% of the equity not already owned

by the group in DTZ in Nortn Asia Alongside our
ongoing acquistion strategy n The Amernicas to
broaden our capahilities, we continue to enjoy

a frutful occupational markets partnership with
The Staubach company In the United States

We have taken a number of other steps in key
locatons throughout our network, both dunng
the year and since the year end, to enhance
the avalability of services to our clients

Our service offering has been significantly
enhanced through the development of our
hosprtality sector capability in EMEA and the
United States In addrition, our retall sector offenng
will be powerfully reinforced in the Unrted Kingdom

& Ireland, and continental Europe, if we are able

to conclude our negotiations for the acquisition of
Donaldsons, which we have separately announced
We are also developing a more integrated approach
to the way we provide the range of caprial market
services we affer, and extending the avalabilty of
those services geographically A good example 1
the successful growth of our asset management
business, headquartered in France, and the
opening of a corporate finance branch in Gemany

Our expenence shows that bulding scale and
broadening our service offenng in each location and
in each skil ine enables us to Mprove profitability
and margins, as well as providing the benefits of
dwersification This has dramatically improved our
performance in EMEA and, following our acguistion
in North Asia, which has greatly strengthened our
presence In Asia Pacific, we believe that we will be
able to follow the EMEA model across the Asa
Pacific region and enhance profitabity going
forward This i1s underlined by our experience

of our more mature markets, such as the UK,

The Nethertands, France and Singapore, where

our margins are much higher than elsewhere

Chaimans oveniew
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“The increasing scale and complexity of our business
means that we must recruit the very best talent to serve
our clients. As one of a small number of global redl estate
service providers, we are able to offer exciting intemational
development opportunities to our staff.”

One consequence of our active acquisttion strategy
over several years has been the emergence of a
vanety of dfferent brand names associated with
the group We are now completing a programme
of brand smplification and strengthening which

will shortly lead to a smple DTZ brand being

used n most locations throughout the world

Achievements this year

In addition to the transactions already mentioned,
our continuing global expansion during the year and
since the year end included the

* Acquisition of 100% of the equity n our
Portuguese company,

* Exercise of an option to acquire a further 50%
equity stake in Sweden, which will bring our
holding to 80%,

» Significant expansion of our business in Austria,
France, Germany, The Netherlands and Russia,
ncluding new offices n Bordeaux and Leipzig,

» Opening of an office n Abu Dhab,
» Acquisition of & majonty interest in New Zealand,

* Establishment of an office In Brisbane, acquisition
of a 25% interest in our business on the Gold
Coast, strengthening of our presence In
Melbourne through the acquisiion of McGees
Property and, since the year end, the acquisttion
of Harlow Property Consultants in Sydney,

» Growth in headcount of over 100% n Indta,
where we experienced a 158% increase in
turnover dunng the year,

* Turnover increase in Russia of 466% and in
Singapore by 153%

* Cpening of DTZ Rockwood offices in Atlanta,
Dallas, Los Angeles and Miami,

* Commitment to an information technology
investment programme to integrate and further
enhance the quality of the services we provide
to chents

People

The board was delighted to announce dunng the
year the appointment to the board of CY Leung,
now charrman of our Asia Pacific region, who has
many years experience of real estate markets n
Asia and around the world Since the year end,
Tim Hodgson has stepped down from the board
and from his full-tme role as chief operating officer
However, the board 1s very pleased that he will

be returning to work for the group In a part-time
capacity in September, after a well deserved break
Tim Maynard, our group finance director, has
decided to pursue other business interests outside
the group, and will be leaving the board later

this year We are very grateful for the significant
contribution he has made to the group during his
five years with us, and wish him well for the future

The significant strategic developments we are
making require effectve management structures
and appontments to ensure that we delver efficient
and value-adding services to our clients Durng the
year, we have Implemented a complete new
structure for our Asia Pacific region, and made a
number of iImportant senior appontments, Ncluding
CY Leung as charman, Edmund Tie as vice
chaman and Dawid Steventon as CEQ Qur EMEA
regional structure has been similary strengthened,
with key appointments including those of Chnis
Balch as managing drector i the United Kingdom
& Ireland and the appoiniment of new managing
drectors in Austna, Germany and Hungary In The
Amencas, our corporate development will require

a new structure and associated appointments and
these wil be put in place in the near future

The increasing scale and complexity of our business
means that we must recrut the very best talent to
serve our clents As one of a small number of
globat real estate service providers, we are able

to offer exciting international development
opporinities to our staff As an illustration of thig,
we currently have some 70 secondmernts in

24 different countries, resutting in a frurtful
cross-fertiisation of skills and expenences
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The year has been exceptional, not only in the
excellent results achieved, but also in the pace
of cur global and servce development This has
only been possible because of the excellence
and commitment of our staff worldwide, and the
board 1s very grateiul for the support they gve to
our clents

Economic and property market condihons
To a large extent, the pattern of world economic
growth over the past 12 months has been as we
anticipated Whilst a housing-led slowdown has
been underway In the US, this has been to some
extent offset by a strengthening recovery in the

Eurozone and the continuation of robust export-led

growth in the Asia Pacific region, notably China

We expect continued, albett softer, global growth in
the year ahead, with central banks mantaning ther
tightening bias until underiying inflationary pressures

are clearty under control

In terms of real estate markets worldwide, the
recovery 1 occupler markets currently underway
In many locations 1s expected 1o be sustaned
Along with other commentators, we consider that

scope for further yield compression, already imited

In some markets, may be further restncted by
higher interest rates and that this will mpact to
some extent on nvestment markets, which have
been exceptionally strong in recent years

We therefore anticipate that returns will generally
become more dependent on occupier market
fundamentals and effective asset management
Nevertheless, whilst recent months have already
seen some slowing In some Jocations such as the
UK, the impact on us is offset by opportunities for
business generation resulting from the growing
sophustication of the market and the increasing
dversity and geographical spread of our existing
and potential client base, as well as continuing
good actiiy levels

Conclusion

Our view 15 that the requrements of major clients
will continue to consolidate in kne with increasing
globalisation and that this, in turn, wall mean that a
relatively small number of real estate advisers will be
able to offer the full range of services that clents
require throughout the world The breadth of skills
withn DTZ, coupled with ts geographic spread,
ensures that the group 1s Increasingly well protected
and, more mpaortantly, well postioned in this
respect, and the board intends to continue to
pursue this successful strategy for the benefit of
clents, staff and shareholders

Ao IR

Tim Mehille-Ross group charman
4 July 2007

Charmans avenview
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Performance

Overview

Last year was agan one of substantial progress

for the group, both in consolidating our global
footpnnt and n producing excellent financial

results These results have been driven by sirong
performances across our business with growth in all
geographies and across all five business groups

We are delighted to report once agan a signficant
nse to record levels in both our turnover and
profitability, with turnover up by 33 5% to

£310 3 milion (2006 £232 4 millien) and profit
befare tax nsing by 40 9% to £41 8 milicn

(2006 £29 7 milkon) Earnings before interest,

tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) were
£45 6 millon {2006 £31 9 millon} while earmings
per share (EPS) increased by 30 4% to 49 4 pence
{2006 37 9 pence) Trese results were achieved
alongside some substantial nvestment in new
people and operations

These comparative figures include the impact of
some disposals in the preceding year and the fees
and caprital receipts of £3 8 milkon derming from the
substantial realsation of our nterest in the Curzon
Capital Partners Property Fund n 2007 1f we stnp
out this ncome {which is classified in the profit and
loss account as income from other fixed asset
nvestments) together with our net financing costs,
then our undertying profit, or total profit from
operations ncluding jont ventures and associated
undertakings increased by 38 7% to £38 7 millon

The UK & freland business increased turnover
to £176 millon (up by 8 1%) and profits before
tax rose by 26 2% to £31 2 millon (2006

£24 7 million) This was driven by significantly
stronger performance in the regional markets
outside London and in our valuations and
professional services dMSIONs

Continental Europe continued its very strong growth
with a 48 6% ncrease N turnover {0 £87 4 milion
and a 92 5% ncrease n profits to £13 6 milion
{2006 £7 1 millon) There were particularly strong
performances from Germany, Central Europe,
France and The Netherlands The results both in the
UK & Ireland and on the Continent are almost
entrely the result of organic growth

This year saw the substantial completion of the

integration of the ownership of our practices across

Asia Pacific and the results therefore take into

account the continuing broadening of our equity

investment in this region The figures only reflect |
the contnbution for part of the year of the vanous

acqguisibons that we have made, and are alsc \
affected by the cost of substantial organic [
invesiment Nonetheless, there have been vanous

strong underlying performances, including a

particularty impresswve result from South East

Asia, which meant that the overall region

produced an increase In turnover to £39 4 million

(2006 £10 7 mikon) and a profit of £1 1 milion

(2006 £217,000)

|
May June July August September Qctober !
Acausiion of a Opened office n Opened DTZ Rockwood Acquistion of a maonty DTZ Asset Management Acquisibon of 100% of
50% nterest n OTZ Mumbas India office n Atlanta USA nterest n New Zealand Deutschiard GmbH the equaty 0 Portuguese |
Rockwood in the busmess formed n Murech busress
United States Estabi an office Gemany
Acousition of McGees in Bnsbane Austrafia
Property n Melbourne,
Australia
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Indirect Market

DTZ 15 at the forefront of the rapidly growing indirect
real estate Investment market Our nvolvement in

the sector spans expertise from across the Capital
Markets group including is Corporate Finance,
Investment and Asset Management and Investor
Consulting businesses An array of services are
offered to the ndustry including capttal rasing,
secondary trading, white label fund structunng,

fund adwvisory and nvestment management serces
The latest product launched into the indirect market

18 Aurora, a European fund of funds, the firstin a
senes of planned DTZ indrect vehicles created

and managed by DTZ Investment Management

With headline figures of over £2 bilon of capital raised
for the indrect market in the past 18 months and the
growth of our Indirect assets under management from:
£19 mulbon to £280 milion n two years, DTZ
continues to drive forward #ts indirect initatves to
complement ds traditional direct nvestor services

At the beginning of the year, we purchased a 50%
interest in Rockwood Realty Assooiates LLC (now
re-branded OTZ Rockwood), a specialist in North
American capital markets As this is a 50/50
Interest, we have elected to partially consolidate
ther results, so that ther figures here reflect 50%
of the business Dunng the year, they have made
both a substantial iInvestment of tme and effort In
integration and cross-selling with the rest of our
global business, as well as undertaking a significant
expansion of the business These factors meant
that the business produced an operating loss for
our interest of £2 2 millon However, there 1s a good
pipeine of future work, both in Narth Amenica and
with referred work to the rest of the world

At the end of the year, cur balance sheet cantinued
to be strong, with net cash of £24 0 million,
notwithstanding cash investments in acquishons
of £26 9 milion duning the course of the year

This leaves us well postioned 10 continue our
corporate development

Corporate development

As the chaiman reported at the half year, we are
continuing to dentify and pursue opportunities to
enhance our network and reinforce the global
presence that our clients now require Accordingly,
we have undertaken significant deveiopment of
the business which the chairman has temised in
his report

In EMEA, we have developed on a broad front,
with significant Investment in new people, three
new offices and the acquisition of 100% of the
equity 1n our business in Portugal Overall, our
staff numbers in the region have rnsen by 18%
at the year end

We have also announced that we are n
discussions to acquire Donaldsons, a substantial
practice operating out of the UK and across
continentat Europe which s particularly rencwned
for ts expertise In the retal and property
management sectors Should this be completed,
it will significantly accelerate the group’s
development in the region, adding 900 staff and
substantially strengthening our retall practice and
other operations

In Asia Pacific, the acquistion of the remaining
70% of the equity in cur North Asia operations not
already owned by the group, has meant that all
our operations in the region are now subsidianes
of the group, where s0 allowed by local law

The acquisition has thus both facilitated greater
operational integration across the region as well
as ncreasing the group's exposure to the rapicly
growing markets :n China, where we have a market
leading business We will continue to invest in the
country and, since the year end, have announced
that we are opening our twelfth full service cffice
on the maintand in Cingdao

2007
November December January February March Apnl|
Opened an ofica n Acousion of 100% Launch of hosprabty Establshed an office Opened DTZ Rockwood Opened Gemman
Bordeaux France of the equity «» North teamn n EMEA n Abu Dhabr UAE offica n Marm USA. Comporata Finance
Asia business Opened an office n anoe n Frankfurt
Leipzg Gemany Y
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“L ast year was again one of substantial progress
for the group, both in consolidating our global footprint
and in producing excellent financial results.”

Elsewhere in the region, we have invested
significantly » Australasia Early in the vear, we
moved to maonty ownership in New Zealand,
where we have a very sound professional business
We have also continued the rapid and mpresswve
development of our Australian business, with a new
office In Brnsbane and the three acquisitions set out
in the chawrman’s report The Australian business
has seen substantial change over the last three
years but our vanous moves have been successfully
ntegrated, developing both substantial momentum
and a high sense of teamwork This has been
demonsirated by the country becoming the group’s
best refemer of work to other counitnes dunng the
year (as a percentage of tumover)

In North America, the acquistion of a 50% nterest
in OTZ Rockwood, the subsequent expansion of
this capital markets business (with four new offices
and a 50% increase in staff} and the investment of
trne and effort on integration, has estabhshed a
sold base for cur further development At the same
tme, we have increased our staff in the region who
look after our own corporate clents and manage
the Jjoint cient redationships with our affilate,

The Staubach company

Product development
Our service ines have continued to evolve with
several notable developments

* We have recruited a new hospitalty team in
EMEA to complement a similar intiatve n DTZ
Roclkwood and built on existing expertise in Asia
Pacific, thus gvng us a global capacity to advise
on the hotel and leisure market,

* We have established new corporate finance and
asset management capabiities in Germany, and

* Through DTZ Rockwood, we have set up a new
buyside investment advisory team in New York,
which conducts business as DTZ Real Estate
Investors The new business focuses primanty
on adwvising purchasers from our client base
elsewhere In the world This service 1S part of our
standard offering elsewhere, but 1s unusual In the
USA We have been very encouraged by its inttial
progress and since the year end (but within six
rmonths of its establishrment) 1t has closed on a
US$105 milkon nvestment n New York for an
ltahan clent for whorm DTZ Rockwood will now
provide ongoing asset management services

Property markets

Over the past 12 months, the occupational markets
for business space worldwide have generally
continued to strengthen The recovery that was
evident n many leading global centres, parucularty
In Asia, I previous years has spread further so that
most significant office markets globally are now
dermonstrating rental growth The retal markets are
less consistent, reflecting both differing patterns

of consumer demand and the vaned state of
development of the retail stock

Global investment demand for commercial real
estate has continued to be very strong, with new
sources of caprtal being added to the internatonal
flows benefiing fram some excellent Investrment
returns However, as we indicated last year, n
some locations pricing has overshot economic
fundamentals and there has now been some
selective easing of yields and lengthening of
transaction times
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Financing fixed for Manhattan residence
DTZ Rockwood has advised a consortium led
by Mann Realty Associates on ts $520 million
financing of The Apthorp, a landmark residential
property n Manhattan, New York The property
occupies an entre ity block between Broadway
and West End Avenue from 78th to 79th Street
and compnses 163 urits, 2,370 sq m of street
level retal and a 117 space parking garage

Capital Markets

Turnover {2006 £64 3m)

£94.6m +47%

Services

» Investment/Asset Managerment

» Investment Agency
» Corporate Finance
Qur Capital Markets team has again had a very
strong year, with a 46 9% ncrease in year-on-year
revenues to £94 6 millon These resutts are affected
by our Investment into OTZ Roclowood, which is a
Caprtal Markets specialist Ignonng this acqussition,
underlying revenues still Increased by 35 4% to

£87 milion We have brought together our vanous
Capral Markets businesses in Europe under a
single management structure to capitalise on the
growth of cross border business in both indirect
vehicles and diect property Investment

The contnued flow of capital nto the sector and
the emergence of a global marketplace has
resufted N a further level of nvestor diversification
Consequently, the real estate nvestment market
has become increasingly complex, requinng ever
more innovatve solutions to dnve perfonmance
irom capital in what has perhaps been the fastest
growing major assei class in the past decade

The combined investment and asset management
business saw growth of 18% over the year, n terms
of funds managed, bullding on an excellent track
record, as evidenced by an industry award for

the seventh consecutive year The team has also
been expanding its services, both geographically
and in products For example, t has developed

its first Fund of Funds, Aurora, with target capial

of €200 milion (£135 millon) In France, we have
increased the size of our assets under management
by €600 mulion (£400 milon) A particular notable
SUCCEeSs wWas our appointment as excluswve
manager for a prominent Middle Eastern chient for
its €250 milion (£167 milion} Pan European Fund
as ‘white label’ manager

Direct investment continued to grow strongly,
particularly in cross border transactions, generating
total fees of £70 6 milion, a 35% growth over last
year's figures

Highiights in EMEA included the sale of 30 St Mary
Axe, London for around £600 miltion, advising the
Church Commssioners for England on the disposal
of crca £135 millon residential loan portfolio and
the sale in Germany of a portfolio of seven office
buildings totaling 143,600 sq m for €333 million
(€225 mfion) to an Austrahan nvestor

In Asia, we were engaged to sell the Waterfront
View project in Singapore to FCL Peak Pte Ltd

for £126 millon, won a mandate from Standard
Life Investments to acquwe AUSS500 rmullion

{£213 milhon) of rvestments throughout Assa Pacific
and advised Rubicon on €284 mihon {£191 mulion)
of office and retall acquistions in Japan for s
recently isted Japan Trust

In the USA, our new partner, DTZ Rockwood,
completed the sale of Corporate Woods, a
217,000 sq m office property in Overland Park,
Kansas, for $281 million (£140 milion) and the

sale of The Chelsea, a 204 unit multifamily property
in New York, for $117 4 milion (£58 miion)

Capital Advisory, Including our Corporate Finance
and Investor Consutting teams have continued to
develop ther capital raising iIntiatves  One major
hightght was being selected as European
placement agents for US-based JER Partners
Furopean Fund I, which raised €800 million

{£540 millon) of equity with blue chip investors
Our UK pipeling has also grown considerably,

we have been retaned to rase £50 million for
Legal & General Property Limited for its Leisure
Fund, £150 mifion for Hermes and Legal &
General Property Limited for its Logistics Fund,
and £50 milkon for APIA for its regional Office Fund
In Europe, we have also begun to establish our
capabiities and have been retained by one of
Europe’s largest listed property companies to

raise €250 milion - €500 millon {£170 mullion -
£340 milkon) for an unhsted fund in the office sector

In the real estate secondary trading market we
represented Invista who manage Equitable's
property portfolio In the largest ever real estate
secondary trading sale of Jersey Property Unit
Trusts (J-Puts) for £435 millcn ‘We expect to see
significant growth in secondary trading in the futurg
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Bespoke valuation for retail fund

DTZ provided valuaton advice on The Irus
European Retall Property Fund, an investrent
fund set up by Sparush property developer Nenver
Valued at €350 millon the fund compnsed their six
retall factory outlet centres spanning more than
94,000 sq m across continental Europe in Madrid,
Warsaw, Sevile, Porto and Mian Over seven
instrutions have since nvested in the fund which
expects annual returns of 10%-12% and hopes
to trple In size within four years

Valuation

Turnover (2006 £43 2m)

£68.2m +35%

Services

» Valuations
» Due Diligence
» Corporate Recovery

Valuation work was again n strong demand, as
evidenced by a 34 8% increase n year-on-year
revenues to £58 2 milion itis parbeularly notable
that the share of revenues generated cutside the
UK s continuing to grow rapidly This reflects the
growing internaticnalisation of the marketplace
which 1s driving increased requirements for
independent advice from both global and local
investors In respanse to this growth, we doubled
our German capactty while our London team grew
to over 120 people, as part of a consoldated tearmn
of around 500 pecple across EMEA

We continued o win a large share of the cross
border private equity work in European markets
as these groups have been particularly active in
the past 12 months Cross border team efforts

in Chinese, Japanese, Middle Eastern and Indian
markets alsc gave us strong footng for competing
on a global scale

Successes ncluded

* Due diligence advice for Deutsche Bank n
connection with the arca £1 billon corporate
acquistion of McCarthy & Store plc,

* Valuation in connection with the acquisition of
GHG, (36 private hospitals) with a total value of
circa £2 bilkon,

* Valuation of Four Seasons Healthcare group
property portfolio as part of vendor due diligence
prior to purchase by Three Defta (416 properties
compnsing care homes and hospitals etther
owned or operated), totaling circa €1 4 hillon,

* Valuation for Cerberus’ housing estate In
Germany,

* Advising Citigroup on due dilgence work for Citi's
nvestment in Guangdong Development Bank,

* We have prowded valuation due diigence to
Sahara group, which employs more than 950,000
people N India, N connection with a New City
project known as Aamby Valley, located midway
between Mumba and Pune and compnsing over
45 milicn sqm,

+ In Japan, we provided valuation servces and
advice to the Rubicon group, on a portfolo
totaling some £330 miflion, and

* We act as exclusive valuer on HSBC's Personal
Finance Services division in Hang Kong and,
additionally for this client, we have provided
valuation advice on the majority of ts commercial
loans in Hong Kong

It 1s important to note that ocur annual portfolio
valuation wark for clients such as UBS Global Asset
Management (UK) Ltd continue to provide a positive
foundation for consistent year-on-year revenues

Corporate recovery and restructunng coniinued
its strong growth, working with a wide range of
banking clients, particularly in the Central London
residential investment market where a number of
large portfolios have been sold in the fast year

In other sectors, acting for PwC, the team adwvised
on Adams Clothing and Card group, in respect of
over 800 retaul units throughout the UK and acted
for Ernst & Young on the administration of the
Swallow Hotel group, with n excess cf 800 hotels,
trading and tenanted pubs in England and
Scotland, including the Carnoustie Hotel
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Lease innovations n Singapore

In Singapore, banking giant Sociéte Generale group
appointed DTZ to provide a range of acqussition,
rent review as well as lease renewal and
restructunng advice on all of ts portfolio across

the central business distnict At 80 Robinson Road,
DTZ first restructured the group’s leases resutting in
a substantial rent rebate, then later conducted a
forward renewal of the leases and acquired
addibonal expansion space, totalling more than
85,000 sq it The rents are secured at 20% below
market rate o reduce the bank’s exposure to
spirafing rents

Occupational & Development Markets

Turnover (2006 £70 8m})

£87.4m +24%

Services

» Landlord Leasing
» Development Agency
» Tenant Representation

The Occupational & Development Markets team
has seen a 23 5% increase In year-on-year
revenues to £87 4 millon QOur past commitment
to this skill area during weaker market conditions
15 being repard as many key ¢ty centres and
emerging markets are expenencing recovery

Increasing office actmty has yielded prominent
instructions from poth tenants and landlords

For example, we have assisted JPMorgan in

tts search for a new 100,000 sq m European
nvestment banking headquarters in London, and
advised Hewlett Packard on the acquistion of
26,000 sg m in Romania and Bulgana, while our
leasing instructions include 23,000 sq m on one of
the most prominent office locations in Barcelona,
Tower Diagonal 197, and in Budapest, Futureal
group’s new €500 milion (£336 million) mxed use
promenade development

Similar nstructions have been secured in Asia
Pagific, including leasing 40,000 sq m of office
space for General Property Trust n Melbourne
and Sydney

Turning to logistics, we have agan had a good year,
reflecting an overall market where supply and
demand reman reasonably balanced Building
requrements have notably become larger, we have
been involved n two large transactions in the UK
greater than 75,000 sq m, and there 1s growing
evidence of smilar sized transactions globally

There Is also continual rationalisation of industnal
plants and relocation to Central and Eastern Europe
and Asia

We have been investing in our retal offering, with
the recrutment of senior personnel, noticeably

in the UK The agency team is now responsible

for over 150 shopping cenires and retal parks
throughout the UK & Ireland The possible
acquistion of Donaldsons would substantially grow
our EMEA retal expertise, a sector that accounts
for between 30% and 50% of institutional
commercial property value depending on location

The gradual increase n the number of corporate
occuplers seeking to source real estate services on
a global basis has continued We have benefited
from this trend, with our appointment by Vodafone
as ther intenm global real estate adviser

Qur corporate clients are also reviewing therr real
estate portfolios to look at how real estate can be
used more strategically te maxmise shareholder
value Qur client list ncludes many global Fortune
250 companies with whom we are working to
create bespoke solubons by integrating our
invesiment, financial consulting, development
and corporate services skills
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Management team assembles for DIY giant
DIY expert B&Q has tumed to DTZ to manage its
portfolio of 60 stores, totaling approxmately one
midlion sgq m, across mantand China The contract
18 for three years by which time B&Q expect to
have expanded into 100 stores A dedicated team
of 10 DTZ people will work within B&(QY's Chinese
headquarters in Shanghal supported by colleagues
in our 12 mantand offices DTZ 1s also nstructed
in China to value B&Q's current owner-occupied
portfolio of 15 stores

Professional Senices

Turnover {2006 £37 4m)

£47.7/m +28%

Services

» Property Management
» Facities Management
» Bulding Consultancy/Project Management

This business group has had an excellent year,
seeing both a 27 5% increase on year-on-year
revenues to £47 7 milion and winning a significant
pipeline of new business for the future

Some notable successes include over £4 bilion

In terms of caprtal value taken under management
from companies including Glanmore UK Land
Estates and Aviva plc, an appointment by ING
Real Estate [nvestrment Management to manage
a £500 milon portfolo of 55 properties and

630 tenancies located across the UK, and an
appointment by Eurocastle (a company managed
by Fortress) to manage a portfolio compnsing 302
properties with a value of €2 1 billon (1 4 billion)
across Germany We were also appointed by
Gemdale Corporation to manage its 150,000 sgm
Gemdale Plaza which includes office and retall
accommodation in Beying

Shopping centres have been a particularty
successful area Thus, n Guangzhou, China,

we were instructed by Sky Metro to manage a
150,000 sq m site, while we won the instruction to
acvise Plaza Centres on the future management of
Hungary's largest shopping centre at Arena Plaza
Mall, Budapest In the UK, we have been instructed
to manage four centres for O Twelve Estates
bimited managed by Rugby Estates In addition, we
are increasing our involvernent in major mxed use
schemes, for example, N winning the instruction to

manage The Bahrain Worid Trade Centre with s
two iconic 50-storey towers above a 150 unt
retal mall

The trend from corporates to outsource ther
internatonal portfolio management continues
and we were successful n winning a competitive
mandate for the cutsourcing of worldwide real
estate services for Rentokil Initial, Including more
than 900 properties n 30 countnes

We contnue o evolve our business and service
offering We now provide a stand-alone faciities
management service and do so for the entre
Prudential Property Investment Managers (UK}
(PRUPIM) noni-shopping centre portfolio, covenng
over 250 properties across the UK

Integral to our faciities management service In the
UK 1s Buying Force, our procurement aggregation
business that we created as a joint venture with
Prudential Buying Force has made a significant
step forward this year with the appointment of

a new managing drector and sales manager

The RICS publication of the new Service Charge
Cade of Practice endorses the use of third party
procurement specialists such as Buying Force
and has resulted in a number of new enguines
Buying Force continues to develop its rigorous
supplier checking process, which now includes an
n-depth review of each suppler’s environmental
and sustanabilty capabilities, assisting DTZ and its
chents to meet ther environmental and corporate
social responsibilities, as well as obtaining best
value aggregated procurement

Qur Project Management and Building Consuftancy

teams have continued to expand globally, |
spectfically in respect of the project management

capability and, for example, have recently

undertaken the project management fit out of I
new offices for a prominent internet cllent in Madnd |
and Milan In India, we won the assignment for !
the fit-out of two ABN AMRO office expansions

in Bangalore and Delhi, while in Sydney, our team

completed the fit-out of an 84,000 sg m office

campus for Optus, Australia’s largest ever

corporate relocation

18 | DTZ Ho'dngs pic Annuat report and accounts 2007

Performance




Old meets new at world hentage site

The Consuling & Research team in the Czech
Republc completed a development consultancy
project n Cesky Krumlov, a designated UNESCO
world hertage centra and the Czech Republic’s
second most popular tounst attraction on behalf
of Golden Krumiov Developments a s The team
drew up a development plan and appraisal for a
mixed use development, at a 4 5 hectare brownfield
site adjacent to the town's historical centre, to
include a four star hotel, kixury apartments and
office space

Consulting & Research

Turnover (2006 £16 7m)

£22.4m +35%

Services

» Economics and Research
» Investor/Corporate Consultancy
» Development Consulting

Followng a realignment of the business our
Consuiting & Research team increased year-on-year
revenues to £22 4 milion, 34 7% up on the previous
year Over the past 12 months, the team has
provided a wide range of consultancy services to
both private and public sector clents

Our location specialists have provided assistance
n establishing the optimum locations for a range
of actsties including shared service centres,
manufactunng plant and research & development
centres throughout EMEA for clients such as
Firestone and a number of financial nstitutions
We have alsc advised on a number of major
portfolie transactions in the corporate sectar

Addtionally, we have carned out strategic advisory
work for many of the UK's Development Agencies
and local authorties as welt as the Welsh Assermnbly
and Scottish Executve We have also been the
lead adviser on faciliies management outsourcing
to help London's Metrepoltan Police achieve
efficiencies in ts annual £100 millon expendrture
on prermises related services

Our Development Consuting team prospered,

as we continued to enhance our UK market
position as a 'top three adviser” by focusing on
strategic development projects where our range
of skills provide clear differentiation We continued
to operate for a diverse client base of leading
developers, landowners and the public sector and
are seeking to spread our capacity cutside the UK

For example, we have advised on significant
projects in all of the UK Government's Growth
Areas Thames Gateway, Ashford, Miton Keynes,
the Stansted-Cambridge cormdor and the

Northern Way In addition, we have been appointed
advisers tc Basildon Renaissance Partnership

on the redevelopment of the town centre, and
English Partnerships on the planning strategy for
Northstowe — a proposed new 10,000 house

‘eco town' north of Cambrdge In Asia, we advised
a private consortium of Korean developers on the
commercial aspects of a potential developrment

of a new town near Seoul and have completed

a review of the land use planning system for the
Government of Bahran

The nvestor consulting team has doubled

revenues, with its client base broadening through
new mandates from a range of Eurcpean and

US fund managers We advised two global fund
managers on the investment strategy of therr logistic
funds in Europe and were also appointed by a
leading wealth manager to structure a new global
fund targeting €1 billon (670 million) of
investments

Cur research team was voted No 1 by Euromoney
as the leading European and global real estate
research house Last year saw a record number

of Europe-wide research mandates, ncluding
winning long-term research contracts from some of
the world's largest banks and real estate nvestors

During the year we also undertook a wide range
of bespoke research for nvestors, occupiers,
developers and property companies as well as
providing n-depth reviews for more general
distnbution Key topics included both sustainability
and the impact of the latest five year plan on
Chinese real estate Our most popular research
tool, Money intc Property, was expanded beyond
EMEA analysis to include coverage for both Asia
Pacific and the LISA

We have camed out economic reviews and
apprasal studies n suppon of development
projects with a value of greater than £1 bilion in the
last year The economics team has also undertaken
strategic housing market assessments for over

50 local authortties - as required in PPS3 Housing
A parbcular feature of our economics advice has
been the penetration of the Investor market,
specifically for nternational residential investors

and the UK siudent residential market, where we
completed due diigence work on crea 18,000
student rooms
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“We expect the current improvement in business space
occupational markets to continue for several years.”

Corporate 1ssues

The conschdation of equity interests in Asia Pacffic
has enabled us to reorganise the management
structure of that region  This 1s now largely
complete and broadly mirrors the structure

of our EMEA business

We are also making significant progress on
developing our infrasiructure to meet our changing
global needs There s significant ongoing
nvestment i areas such as IT and HR but n
addtion, our practice and nsk management
systems are evolving to a global market, as
described in more detail in the dectors’ report
There has been a particular focus on sustainability
Issues, both in respect of our own operatons and
in advising clients

People

We make no apology for repeating annually that
we are committed to being regarded as the best
employer in our industry — our abilty to attract and
retain the best 1s the bedrock of our success

There are many different aspects of being a good
employer and the relatve importance of these to
our staff changes over tme The chairman has
commented on the increasing mportance of global
mobility, both to our business and in attracting staff
Ancther key area o highlight 1s trarming We make
significant investment in training our staff at all
levels, with the areas covered ranging from the
fradtional graduate programmes, through techrical
and professional matters to general management
traning It 1s particularty pleasing to note that our
senior management training programme for the
next generation of business leaders has been
increasingly widened on an international basis,
reflecting the change in our business, so that there
15 now a good balance of nationalties involved in
the process

Market outlook

Wa expect the current improvement in business
space occupational markets to continue for several
years in the absence of a major economic shock,
although the growth 1s polansed and uneven In the
astablished economies and financial centres, this
overall growth looks generally sustainable, although
development supply 15 now evolving to meet future
demand Different cities are at different stages in the
cycle but undertying demand suggests good actmty
lavels which should provide us with helpful market
conditions It 18 more difficult to predict the position
in some of the developing markets, where rapid
growth in demand 1s sometimes leading to a
substartial development pipeline, suggesting the
potential for some volatile corditions over the next
few years

In the retal markets, there are broadly three trends
that can be dentfied Firstly, m the traditional, well
developed markets such as the UK, the overall
pattern 15 broadly following consumer expenditure
although In some instances, this might be affected
by a signficant new development pipeline
Secondly, in those developed economies where
the retail stock has not been modernised (such

as Germany), there is a significant structural shift
underway creating substantial market activity
Finally, n the developing economies such as Central
and Eastern Europe, China and India, a lack of
auality stock and booming demand continues to
underpin the prospect of substantial rental growth

Turning to the investrment markets, strong
international demand for real estate (which has
been growing at around 25%~30% per annum)
should continue, albert growth in demand may now
flatten The shift to a global market is likely to be
permanent, creating sustainable, higher levels of
actvity, but as the market matures so it 1s becoming
more selective We are in a penod of transition as
the mamn driver of capital value growth shifts from
yield compression to rental growth The re-pricing
of property as a global asset class has substantially
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“We are increasingly establishing our position as a major
global real estate advisory practice. We have a well
developed and growing base in both EMEA and Asia
Pacific and have also opened up a new capacity in The
Americas which we intend to evolve further.”

occurred but there remain pockets of good value
which offset those locations where prices are now
easing There 1s considerable pent-up demand -
we estimate that half of the funds raised for
investment globally over the last two years remain
unmvested — which should help offset the impact
of nsing nterest rates

Overall, we are now In more balanced market
condiions The iniial penod of general recovery n
2004 to 2006 has ended and the last 12 months
have seen some selectve downward prce
movemants, such as In parts of the UK investment
market Looking forward, we expect this pattern
to continue, with areas of strong growth offsetting
such weaker areas but with ample funding avallabte
at correct prncoing levels Nonetheless, actmty
levels are likely to reman good and, given the
breadth and depth of our senaces and cur
geographic spread, we therefore anticipate
generally helpfut condriions for our business
continuing

Strategy

Qur business has continued to develop over the
last year, so that through our operations and
partnerships across the world we now serve chents
with more than 11,000 staff operating n 140 cties
and 45 countnes

We are mcreasingty estabhishing our position as a
major global real estate advisory practice We have
a well developed and growing base in both EMEA
and Asta Pacific and have also opened up a new
capacty in The Amencas which we intend to evolve
further At the same time, we have been widening
our skill offenngs across these geographies to
ensure that our clients have access to the range

of services that they require

Finally, we would Ike o add our thanks to our staff
to those of the charman It 1s ther hard work and
commitment that continues to enable the group to
develop so rapidly
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Financial review

Accounting policies

Dunng the year, the group changed ris accounting policy for the recognition of its iInterest n jointly controfied
entites We now combine our share of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in our joint ventures on a
kne-by-line basis whereas previously we only included our share of therr results as a single ine in the profit
and loss account and our share of ther net assets as an mvestment Although there 1s no overall effect on
the net assets or profits of the group, we believe that this new treatment 1s more transparent There has
been no other change n the accounting policies adopted by the group dunng the year

Overview

The group agamn acheved record results for the year with turnover up 33 5% to £310 3 milion and profits
before taxation (‘PBT") up by 40 9% to £41 8 miion including income of £3 8 milhon ansing from the
substantial realisation of our interest in Curzon Capital Partners (see below) These results were again
achieved agamnst a backdrop of contnued investment in the business

Turnover
There was strong turnover in each of our business areas, both by geography and by skill as set out below
2007 2006
Asia The Asa The
EMEA Pacific Amaricas Total EMEA Pacfic  Amencas Total Increase
£m £m £'m £'m tm £m £m £m %
Capital Markets 786 8.5 75 M6 617 26 - 843 4569
Valuation 509 7.3 - 582 419 13 - 432 348
Occupationat &
Development Markets 730 144 - 874 663 45 - 708 235
Professional Services 1.1 66 - a41.7 352 22 - 374 275
Consulting & Research 198 26 - 224 166 01 - 167 347
2634 394 75 3103 2217 107 - 2324 335

We were extremely pleased with the growth in each of the areas, atthough Captal Markets did benefit from
the acquisiions in the US and North Asia (see below} The undertying growth in this area, excluding the
effect of these acquisitions was 31 3%

The analysis continues 10 demonstrate the breadth of cur business across different geographies and skills,
and provdes us with confidence that we can be successful through vanang market cycles in the future

Costs

Overall costs Increased by £68 9 million to £278 1 million, which represented 89 6% of turnover (2006
80 0%) The largest cost to the group 1s staff, which amounted to £195 2 millon or 62 9% of tumover
(2006 62 1%) This represented a £51 0 mithon increase on the pnor year, of which £23 5 million (2006
£14 7milion) was as a result of new staff joining the group through acquisitions and recrutment, 30%

of total staff costs 1s represented by bonuses and commussions Other operating costs increased by

£17 4 million to £79 8 milion, which represented 25 7% of tumover (2006 26 8%) Of the increase,
approximately £8 8 million were costs attributable to acguisitions  The undertying cost increase, excluding
integration costs, was only £7 8 mullion or 12 6%

Operating profit
As a result of the above, our operating profit was £32 2 millon (2006 £23 2 millon) with margins improving
to 10 4% (2006 100%)

Associates
The overall resutts from our associates increased from £4 7 million to £6 5 million as a result of strong
performances from our businesses in The Netherlands and Sweden

Income from other fixed asset Investments amounted to £3 9 mifion (2006 £1 5 million) prncipally relating
to the realisation of our interest In Curzon Caprtal Partners (CCP) of which £3 1 milhon was incentive

fees and £0 7 millon a capital gan  After net financing costs of £0 8§ million (2006 ncome — £0 3 million),
the group’s profit before taxation ncreased by 40 9% to a record £41 8 mikien (2006 £29 7 million)
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A segmental anatysis of profit before net financing income, income from other fixed asset investments and
taxation by region is as follows

UKa {3&2 Asa The Holling
ratand & lrefand) EMEA Pacfic Amencas compay Total
2006/07 (£'m) 304 133 437 14 22 42 387
2005/06 (£'m) 242 70 32 02 - (35 279
Increase (%) 254 803 398 7188 - (19 3} 387

Strong profit growth was achieved in EMEA, notwithstanding the increased organic investment made in

that business With regard to The Americas, therr performance has already been covered in the charman’s
overview and our performance In respect of Asia Pacific, we have seen strong growth, aded by the full year
effect of acquisitions, offset by integration costs In North Asia of approximately £0 5 million and a substantial
organic Investment within the region

Taxation
Our effective tax rate reduced again this year from 32% to 31% as a result of the mx n profits across the
different geographies, and through further efficiencies that we have put in place

Dividends and earnings per share

Basic earnings per share increased by 30 4% to 49 4 pence (2006 37 9 pence), or 44 3 pence excluding
the gain from CCP As a result, the board 1s recommending an increase In the final dwvdend per orcinary
share to 8 00 pence (2006 7 00 pence) which, together with the interm dwvidend of 3 50 pence per share
{2006 2 75 pence), provides shareholders with a total dmdend for the year of 11 50 pence per share
(2006 9 75 pence per sharg)}, representing an overall increase for the year of 17 9% and a dmdend cover
of 39 times

Corporate activity

To achieve our strategic goals, we continue to invest, both organically as set out earlier, and through
acquistions A summary of the significant acquistions made dunng the year, of which further details can
be found in note 17, 1s set out below

Acquisthons

* Rockwood Realty Associates, LLC (Rockwood) On 10 May 2006, we acquired a 50% interest in
Rockwood for an intial consideration of US$45 0 million (€24 2 milbon) of which 81% was n cash and
19% in shares In addmon, a deferred payment will be pad based on two times Rockwood's average
EBITDA for the two years ending February 2008, up to a maximurn of US$75 0 milion {£40 3 mullion),

» DTZ Pacific Holdings (DTZ North Asia) ©On 14 December 2008, the group acqured the remaning 70%
of DTZ North Agia that it did not already own DTZ North Asia owns and operates businesses across
manland China, Hong Kong and Tamwan The inial consideration of HK$356 9 million (€23 3 milion)
was satisfied by a cash payment of HK$63 3 mifion (£4 1 milhon) and the 1ssuance of 2,676,191 shares
(£19 2 million},

» New Zealand On 1 August 2006, the group acquired a further 26% in DTZ New Zealand ('DTZ NZ')
bnnging the total shareholding in the company to 51% The consideration compnsed a cash payment
of £0 4 million

Total acquistion costs In the year were £56 1 milion, of which £23 8 millon was in shares, £27 1 million
in cash and £5 2 millon was deferred consideration

Pensions

At 30 April 2007 there was a deficit {net of tax) held on the balance sheet of £1 2 million (2006 £4 1 millon)
The overall defict has reduced due to an increase i asset values, a reduction in future obligations due

to changes In bond yields and defict contnbutions pasd to the plan The next tnenrval valuation 1s due

on 30 Apnl 2008
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Cash flow and borrowings
Net cash at 30 Apnl 2007 was £24 0 mdhon {2006 £30 3 milion) as analysed below

2007 2006
£'m £m
Bank and cash balances 498 318
Loans {25 8) (15
Net funds 2490 303

The reduction in net funds of £6 2 milion 1s due to cash acqursition costs of £29 4 milkon, of which
£2 3 milion 15 the payment of deferred consideration, offset by net cash inflows of £23 1 million, reflecting
the strong cash generative nature of the business

The bank and cash balances are held in a basket of currencies to match working capital requirements
The loans have an average term of approximately 3} years, are pnncipally denominated in US and

Hong Kong doflars and were taken out in order o provide a specific hedge against investments in the
same currency Approxmately 66% of the group’s bormowings were at fioating rates, (but less than 50%
after adusting for worlking capttal balances) and the remaning 349% at fixed rates after taking nto account
nterest rate swap agreements

The group also has undrawn committed faciities of £28 3 millon which, combined with our existing net
cash balance and expected cash flows for the year, provides the group with substantial resources with
whuch to fund tts strategic ams and enable 1t to continue to delver value to shareholders

Shareholder value

As previously reported, we measure the net returns on invested caprtal ('ROIC’) compared to our cost of
capral ({WACC’) as a way of determining Increases in shareholder value or economic value added ('EVA)
ROIC 15 defined for this purpose as our after tax operating profits as a percentage of shareholders' funds
(after writing back both goodwill and the pension defictt previously written off to reserves) and Loans
WACC 1s the weighted average cost of caprtal of our equity and debt (as calculated by external analysts)
which measure the returns required by shareholders A companson for the last three years 1 shown below

2007 2008 2005
ROIC {56) 167 199 161
WACC (%} 98 100 88
EVA (%) 69 99 73
EVA (£'m) 109 93 57

The table shows that the returns achieved exceeded our cost of capital in each of the years to the
extent that the value provided to shareholders this year, in absoldte terms, or EVA, was £10 8 miion
This represents some 40% of our after tax returns, which clearly demonstrates that our strategy and
related investments continue to generate value, even taking into account the new investments made

in the year where the full value of the returns has still to crystalise In terms of making new investments,
they are appraised taking into account both their nsks, including costs of integration, and the appropriate
hurdle rates

In addition, over the same penod of tme, dvdends have increased from 6 50 pence to 11 50 pence
per ordinary share and since 1 May 2004 the share pnce has increased from 161 5 pence to 536 0 pence
at 30 Apnl 2007

A graph showing Total Shareholder Returns for the five years ended 30 Apnl 2007 as compared to the
FTSE Small Cap Index 15 set out on page 39 of the remuneration report
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Treasury management

The group has formal financial nsk management policies which cover those financial nisks which are
considered matenal to the group’s operations and resultts These policies and mits are reviewed annually
and to ensure comphance, approprate delegated authonties have been set together with reporiing
procedures These policies inchude

* Foreign currency nisk The group publishes ts results in stertng but has a number of overseas businesses
operating in foreign currencies  The group does not hedge the foreign exchange nsks ansing from the
translation of overseas business results into stering but will, within Imits agreed by the board, hedge
against committed transacton foreign cutrency exposures and the translation exposure of foreign currency
denominated assets and labilities At 30 April 2007, the group had lcans denominated in foreign
currencies amounting to £25 0 mition in order to hedge against specific nvestments,

* Interest rate nsk The group's guideting 1s that no more than 50% of net nterest rate exposures on debt
{net of any working capital balances) should be at floating rates At 30 April 2007, of the total loans
outstanding of £25 8 milion, 66% was at floating rates (but less than 50% after agusting for working
capital balances) and 34% at fixed rates through interest swap agreements,

* Liguidity nsk The group mantains a debt to capital ratio that has flexibility to allow it to meet its strategic
objectves In addition, policies are set on appropnate borrowing levels 1o net cash requirements and
minimum covenant levels required of financing sources The group's requirements are reviewed annually,
or more often if the need anses At 30 Aprl 2007 the group, n addtion to the net funds of £24 0 milion
referred to above, had undrawn committed facilities of £28 3 milion

Risk management

The group's nsk management process is embedded within its business plan and is a key focus

This process I1s supported by KPMG LLP, our intemal audrtors, who review all areas of nsk, including our
financial systems and controls Through this nsk management process, we are able to ensure that we have
appropnate systems and controls in place to aliow us to continue to develop and grow the busmness at the
same tme as managng the assocated nsks

MU D Shutt-

Mark Struckett group chief execuive
4 July 2007

Tim Maynard group finance direcior
4 Juty 2007
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Corporate responsibility report

Our approach

DTZ recognises that the way we manage corporate
responsibility in our own business, and our ability
to provide advice on these 1ssues to clents,

15 matenal to our long-term financial performance
QOur corporate responsibility policy 1s therefore
focused both on our operations and our expertise

Cur contnued mnclusion in the FTSE4AGood index
indicates our SUCCess In managing corporate
responsibility within our own operations

Externally, we have committed our support, as its
only property sector partner, to Forum for the Future,
a leading sustanable development organisation

This demonstrates our desire to further expand

our expertise ang knowledge in this field

Responsibifities and accountatilities

The board as a whole 1s responsible for ensunng
complance with DTZ2's corporate values and
group policies, Including corporate responsibility,
environment, Health & safety, equal opportunities
and a range of human resources policies
Corporate responsibility 1s also integrated into
the business development processes

This year, board responsibility has been taken over
by Robert Peto, charman of DTZ UK & lreland

A comporate responsibility steenng group meets
quarterty and reports to the board This steenng
group 1s made up of senior executves from both
client-facing and operational roles Its mandate 1s to
montor, advise and assist with the implementation
of relevant policies, and to provide coordination
across the group

The mplementation of corporate responsibility
vanes in focus and significance across the countnes
in which we operate Each country offiice takes
responsibiity for setting priorities and developing
appropnate implementaton plans consistent with
group policies In the past year, we have begun to
establish a network of focal points in each country
to facitate group-wide learning and data collection

Our chients

The greatest influence we can have in terms of
corporate responsibiity 1 through our service
offerng, by helping investors and occupiers

Halbom Bars in London where DTZ helped
PRUPIM acheeve ISG 14001 certfication

Integrate corporate responsibility into theyr core
actvities On behalf of chents, DTZ manages more
than 6,000 properties across EMEA Qur advice
also nfluences how billons of pounds 1s invested
by our clients

Clients look o us to provide guidance on how

to minimise environmental, Health & safety and
other nsks relating 1o the buldings they occupy
On the investor side, they seek guidance on how
to integrate corporate responsibility 1ssugs into
ther portfolo valuations and purchasing strategies

In order to befter serve our clienis, we have
established a dedicated sustanability group in

the past 12 months Based in the UK, this group
has assessed internal expertise In relation to
anticipated market demand Its work has included
the compilation of a register of related expertise and
services, leadership traning with Oxford Brookes
Unwerstty, discusstons with many chents, and the
marketing of relevant services

A portfolio of corporate responsibility and bespoke
sustainability services has been comptled which
includes sustanabiity audts, carbon footprints,
renewable energy procurement, environimental
investment funds, economic impact assessments
and sustainability masterplans Additionally we are
working on producing ‘green’ leases which are
designed to respond to environmental clmate
change legislation We have provided services

to a number of clients including B&Q (China),
Co-operative Insurance Society and Prudential
Property Investrent Managers (UK}

Our work with PRUPIM also underscores how our
own Internal capacity on corporate respensibility —
in this case with 1ISO 14001 — can be used to
prowde client services As part of its sustanability
strategy PRUPIM wanted to improve environmental
performance at 30 properties In ds portfolo
Working together we have achieved ISO 14001
certification at 10 sites, and are on target to certify
the rest At one site -~ Holborn Bars, London —
this has led to cost savings associated with a 9%
reduchon in energy costs and 10% less waste

to landfill
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As corporate responsitilty 1Issues become more
significant across each of the 45 countries in which
we operate, our sustanability group will expand to
ensure oaur expertise and serices meet clent
demand wherever we operate

Our people

DTZ's system has over 11,000 people operating
from 140 cities In 45 countnes We asprre to be
recogrused globally as the best employer n our
industry, because we empower our people to excel
both for themselves and clients As outined on
pages 6 and 7, this people vision 1s an important
part of cur overall strategy Our UK voluntary
attribion has decreased over the past year from

19 1% to 16 9%

DTZ has progressive people policies designed to
provide the support, flexabilty and reward necessary
{0 enable employees to excel at work The diversity
of people within DTZ 1s changing, due to a greater
vanety of aftractve employment terms together with
an ncrease in our global mobilty which enhances
our ability 16 share business knowledge across

the world This year we have gathered valuable
information from a sample of employees across
Eurcpe to understand how DTZ i1s perceved as

an employer — particularly In relation to diversity and
inclusion, this has enabled us to create business
focused employment intiatves for the coming year

Health & safety

As a knowledge-based organisation, our workforce
IS our greatest asset We are therefore commtied
o continuously mproving the safety and welbeing
of our employees

Qver the past year, we have set minmum
competency requirements for staff on health &
safety and raised our minimum standards of traning
beyond legal compliance We have also introduced
semi-professional qualfications for key front ine
staff, including the NEBOSH National General
Certificate in Occupational Safety and Health
Specific 1ssues addressed in the past year have
ncluded site safety, lone working/personal safesty,

a construction skills certification scheme, managing
fire nsks, and repetitive stran disorders resuiting
from use of office equipment

Int the next year we will establish & common
framewaork for our overseas activities, developed in
line with the OHSAS 18001 standard, broaden the
data collection across EMEA, focus on the dangers
of working at heights, and develop a benchmarking
and measurement framework for suppliers

Community

DTZ provides support to a number of non-profit
organisations that research and help raise
awareness of the built ervaronment and society
This ncludes Forum for the Future, ~Think, the only
online ndustry discussion forum on sustanability,
and the Acadamy of Urbanusm

Qur offices and staff also donate trme and money
to help chanties and local community groups
around the world This year, in recognition of our
decade-long support to student work expenence,
DTZ in Hong Kong was presented with the
Potytechnic Unwersity ‘Preferred Graduate'
Development Award DTZ in India was also the
2006 National Sponsor for the 7th Cry Cadence
Corporate Cricket Challenge, 1n support of India's
leading child nghts organisation

On an indvidual level, teams of OTZ staff have
parbeipated in @ number of fundrasing events
including the 25th annversary Oxfam Trailwalker
Challenge, the MTR Hong Kong Race Walking
2007, and the 2007 Standard Chartered Hong
Kong Marathon 2007

Protecting the environment !
In the UK, along with helping our clients manage

therr environmental Impacts, we are also ‘
committed to making all reasonable efforts to

reduce the ervironmental mpact of our own

activities, we also source 100% of our energy

from renewable sources

DTZ has becarme the first global property adwiser

to achieve 1ISO 14001 certification, coverng not onty
our occupied offices in the UK, but also the sevices
we deliver to our clients We will expand 1SO 14001
to other countries in the coming year This will
provide us with, among cther things, a commaon
framewaork for identifying, measunng and managing
our man environmental impacts

Business trave! i1s a maor cost of our operations,
and a significant impact on the environment

In order to help us reduce spending and CO;
emissions, DTZ 18 in the process of establishing
a global video conferencing capabilty We have
also commissioned research to identify how

we can offset our own carbon footpnnt to match
industry best practice

DTZ has an influence in the supply chain and
we will be mtroducing mitiatves to help suppliers
mprove ther own environmental performance,
such as through benchmarking, seminars and
target setting

Corporate responsibiity report
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Directors

T D Melvlle-Ross Cet FOIS FOIB

group chairnan, non-executive (Age 62)
Tim Melville-Ross has been chairran

of the group since September 2000,
having previously been appointed

a non-executive directar of the company
on 17 January 2000 Heis a member

of the group’s nomination committee

He was formerly director general of

The Instiute of Directors and, before that,
the chiet executive of Natiormende Building
Society He 1s chanman of Manganese
Bronze Holdings plc, The Council of the
University of Essex, The Royal London
Muiual Insurance Soclety Limited, Bowis
Homes Group ple and a dwector of
Katalyst Ventures Limited e has been
appointed char to the board of Higher
Education Fundng Councd for England
effectve from 1 January 2008

Leung Chun Ying (CY Leung) FrHiis
chairman Asla Pacific {Age 52)

Leung Chun Ying (CY Leung) has been
involved with the group since 1993,
having strengthened this n 1999 when
the group bought a minonty interest

i his business He was appomnted to the
board on 14 December 2006 He has
been charman of DTZ Asia Pacific since
February 2007 and pnor to that was
chairman of DTZ Debenham Tie Leung
in North Asia CY 1S past chaiman of the
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors
n Hong Kong and past President for

the Institute of Surveyors n Hong Kong
He s also a trustee, executive commitiee
member and chalrman of Asia for the
Urban Land mstitute of the United States
Since 1897, CY has been a member

of the Executive Council of Hong Kong
and 1s currently the Convenor [n 2003

he was elected a member of the National
Standing committee of the Chinese
Peopile's Political Consultative Conference

™M D Struckett mA mBA FRICS

group chief executve (Age 49)

Mark Struckett has been group

chief executive since 1995 He joined
Debenham Tewson & Chinnocks

N 1979 He s a member of the group's
nemination committee He 1s a director

of the Surveyors Mutual Insurance
Association Limited and was formerly a
non-executive director of Tenon Group pic

R H H Peto ma FRCS

chalrman UK & freland {Age 56)

Robert Peto joined the group in 1971
and has been charman of DTZ (UK)
since September 1999, having earlier
teen chaman of the Investmert Dmvision
He was charman of the RICS Appraisal
and Valuation Standards board from
1999 to 2003 and 15 a member of the
Governing Council of the RICS and

the General Adwsory Council of the
British Property Federation

T S Maynard aca

group finance director (Age 46)

Tim Maynard 15 a chartered accountant,
and joned the group on 1 May 2002
as group finance director designate

He was apponted to the board as
group finance drector on 8 August
2002 Before joning the company,

he was group finance director of Old
Englsh Inns ple Preor to this, be held
senor finance pastions with Hays PLC,
Granada Group pic and Forte plc

K B O'Higgins ASCS MRICS MIAVI

managing drector EMEA (Age 46)

Killan O'Higgins jomed the group on

15 October 2001 He was apponted to |
the board on 9 July 2003 He has been |
managing drector for Europe, Middle East |
& Afnca including UK since 1 May 2005

and, pnor to that, European managing

director of DTZ International where he

was responsible for DTZ's European

operational activity Prior to joining the

group, Killan was managing director

of DTZ Sherry FitzGerald, our associate

busingss in lreland
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T J Hodgson FRICS

execuive (Age 58)

Tim Hodgson has been group chief
operating officer since 1 May 2005

His previous roles in the business include
UK chief operating officer, managing
director of the group’s consultancy
business and managing director of DTZ
{UK} He joned the company in 1977

Tim stood down from the board and
from his position as group chief operating
officer with effect from 24 May 2007 and
will return to the group on a part-time
bass from September 2007

A Lesniak BSC (HONS) ARCS FCA
independent non-executve {Age 55)
Alicja Lesniak has served as a
non-executive director for DTZ Holdings
plc since March 2004 She has over

30 years' expenence of the financial and
operational management of fast growing
service business in disciplines such as
management consultancy, engineenng
and, most recently, marketing services
She 1s currently CFO of Aegis plc
Previously she served as a board member
for BBDO Worldwide Inc and prior to that
she was chief financial officer worldwide
of Ogivy & Mather and managing director
of J Walter Thempson UK She currently
holds another non-executive director
post with the specialist staffing business
SThree, appointed In 2006 Shesa
member of DT2's audt, remuneration and
nomination committees Alicia 1s a fellow
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England & Wales

D M Gray ca

charman EMEA Caprital Markets {Age 59)
David Gray 1s a chartered accountant

He joined the group on 1 May 2000

as chairman of DTZ Consulting &
Research He 1s currently chainng

DTZ's EMEA Capttal Markets business
He 15 also a board Member of Scotlish
Water and a non-executive director

of Romag Holdings plc

L Cullen BsC (HONS) FOCA FCT MBA
independent non-executve (Age 55)

Les Cullen was appointed a non-executive
director on 11 September 2003 He was
previcusly group finance director of STC
plc, De La Rue plc, Inchcape plc and
Prudential plc, which he left in 2000 Since
then he has been charman of a number
of private equity backed companies and
he 1s currently a non-executive drrector
and chairman of the audit committees of
Awis Europe plc and BT Pension Scheme
Trustees Lid and a non-executive director
of F & C Global Smaller Comparies PLC,
Interserve plc and Sustrans Lid He s
chaman of the group’s audit commitiee
and a member of its remuneration and
nomination committees

P J Stone Solictor

independent non-executve (Age 61)
Peter Stone was appointed a
non-executive director of the company
on 26 Apnl 2001 He was previously
deputy chairman of merchant bank Close
Brothers, where he worked for 23 years
untll 1998 He 15 currently a non-executve
drector of Intermediate Caprtal Group plc
and Opus Trust Group Limited He 1s
charrman of the remuneration commitee
and a member of the audit and
nomination committees

D Detter

independent non-executive (Age 47)

Dag Detter was appointed as a
non-executive director on 8 March 2004
He has worked for a number of companies
including Barclays, Credtt Suisse, Parbas
and SEB, as well as chief executive officer
of Stattum, the State Holding company

in Sweden and as the Head of State
Enterpnse Dmision at the Swedish Ministry
of Industry He has also served as a
non-executive director on a number

of boards including Telia, Celsus and
Swedish Post Dag Detter 1s currently

a senior adviser to TerraFirma He s a
member of the group’s audit, remuneration
and nomination committees
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Directors’ report

The directors present ther twentieth Annual Report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 30 Apnl 2007

Principal activities
DTZ Holdings plc continues to be the holding company of a group of companies acting as national and international property advisers
and consultants worldwide, offenng comprehensive integrated propesty adwvice and econornic consuftancy services to clients

Rewview of business and future prospects

Turnover
Turnover, denved from the above actmities, ncreased from £232 4 milion to £310 3 milhon, dunng the year ended 30 Apnl 2007

Group results
The directors report a profit before taxation of £41 8 miflon compared with £23 7 milion for the previous vear

Equity shareholders’ funds at 30 Apnl 2007 amounted to £106 4 milion (2006 £62 5 mdhon)

Events occumng after the end of the year
Detalls can be found in note 31 to the accounts

Enhanced business review
A review of the business, uture prospects and the pnnoipal nsks and uncertanties it faces are contained wathin the Charman’s overview
on pages 8 and 11 and the review of our Performance and Financial review on pages 12 to 25

The principal financial nsks are discussed in note 22 to the financial statements

Ciwvidends

A final dvdend, for the year ended 30 Apnl 2008, of 7 00 pence net per ordinary share was paid in September 2006 This, together
with an intenm dmdend for the year ended 30 Apnl 2007 of 3 50 pence net per ordinary share pad in February 2007, gives a total
dwvidend charged to the results for the year ended 30 Apnl 2007 of 10 50 pence net (2006 7 75 pence) A final dwidend for the year
ended 30 Apnl 2007 of 8 00 pence net per ordinary share 1s 1o be proposed at the annual general meeting on 6 September 2007

If approved, this will be payable to shareholders on the register at the close of business on 17 August 2007 This proposal wilt provide
a total dvdend for the year ended 30 Apnl 2007 of 11 50 pence net per ordinary share (2006 8 75 pence)

Directors

The present membership of the board 1s set out on pages 28 and 29 All drectors served throughout the year with the exception of
The Mon Leung Chung Ying (C Y Leung), who was appointed as an executive director on 14 December 2006 and who offers himseff
for election In accordance with the company's Articles of Association, Mr T D Metlle-Ross, MR R H H Peto, Mr D M Gray and

Mr L Cullen retire as directors at the forthcoming AGM and. being eligible, offer themselves for re-election

None of the directors had any interest in any matenal contract dunng the year relating to the business of the company
The interests of directors and therr famiies in the shares of the company were

Non Non-

- B A
Mumber of ordinary shares of 5 pence aach 2006 2007 2006 2007
T D Mebville-Ross 16,450 16,450 - -
M D Struckett 630,943 479,347 54,500 54,500
T S Maynard 20,000 59,219 - -
T J Hodgson® 271,697 221,697 - -
R H H Peto 471,580 249,485 - -
K B O'Higgins 105,253 105,253 - -
D M Gray 8,609 8,609 - -
C Y Leung? - 2,628,305 - -
L Cullen 5,000 5,000 - -
D Detter - - - -
F J Stone 50,000 50,000 - -
A Lesmak 5,000 5,000 - -

{1) T J Hodgson resgned on 24 May 2007
{2) C'Y Leung was apponted on 14 December 2008

The above non-beneficial interests relate to the mterests of the directors (or therr spouses) as trustees of trusts established for the
benefit of therr respective children or those of other directars or former directors of comparses in the group

As at 30 Apnl 2007, all the above directors are interested in 3,354,540 ordinary shares (2006 3,267,591) held by DT&C Limnited,
a subsidiary of the company, as trustee of the company’s Discretionary Employee Benefit Trust, which halds the shares in trust for
group employees

Between 30 Apnl 2007 and 22 June 2007, this figure has decreased to 3,344,540

In additton, Mr M D Struckett, Mr T J Hodgson, Mr R H H Peto, Mr T S Maynard and Mr K B O’Higgins have been granted oplions
under the DTZ Holdings plc Deferred Share Scheme  Full details are included in the directors' remuneration report set out on
pages 32 to 3%
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As at 22 June 2007, the company had been notified of the following interests of 3% or mere m the company’s ordinary shares

At 30 April 2007 At 22 June 2007
Substantal interests Shares % Shares %
Groupe CM 11,510,500 2009 11,695,500 2041
AEGON Asset Management 3,392,611 5.92 3,388,758 591
DT&C bmited® 3,354,540 585 3,344,540 584
CY Leung 2,628,305 458 2,628,305 458
Barclays PLC 2,525,687 440 1,719,431 300
JPMorgan Asset Management 2,519,702 4 40 2,181,105 g
Legal & General Investment Management Limited 2,083,208 363 2,094,744 366
Wasatch Adwsors! 2,081,792 363 2,543,762 444

(1) Non-disclesable sharehclding
(2) Trustee of the company s Ciscretonary Employee Beneft Trust

The board 1s not aware of any other person who Is interested in 3% or more of the 1Issued share capital of the company

Employee mvolvement

The directors recognise that the key to delivenng consistent high-quality client senices lies in the skill, loyalty and motivation of all its
employees It1s the policy of the group that all employees are provided with support, advice, traming and development opporturities
to allow them to achieve ther own potential within the framework of the business

The group has made and continues to make substantial Investment in network information technology All staff have access to the
intranet and ntermet, which, as well as delvenng improved services to clients, has already proved a great success n faciitating internal
communications on impaortant business developments and for shanng infermation

Employment of disabled persons

The group has continued its existing policy regarding the employment of disabled persons Full and far consideration i1s gven to
apphcations for employment made by disabled persons, taking into account therr particular aptitudes and abilities and the nature of the
work nvolved Appropnate traning Is avalable for disabled employess, including retraining for atternative work If necessary for those
employees who become disabled, to promote therr career development within the group

AGM special business
This year, the directors are putting forward four tems of special business at the AGM These are resolutons 5 to 8 (inclusive) as set out
In the notice of meeting and descnbed In the letter to shareholders accompanying that notice

Donatons
Dunng the year, the group made donations for chantable purposes of £42,224 (2006 £18,303) No donaticns were made for political
purposes {2006 nil)

Creditor payment policy

It 1s the group's normal policy to pay suppliers within the payment terms of the contract, where these have been agreed in advance,
or within 30 days of the end of the calendar manth of supply Sub-contractors, n accordance wath ther contract terms, are pad when
the group 1s paid As at 30 Apnl 2007, creditor days were calculated at 26 days (2006 23 days)

Directors’ indemnities

The Articles of Association grant indemnities to each of the directors and the group secretary to the extent permitied by law
These ndemnities are uncapped N amount n relation to certan losses and labilties, which may incur to third parties in the course
of acting as dwectors (or company secretary as the case may be) or employees of the company or one or maore of s subsidianes
and associates

Going concern
The directors are satisfied that the company and the group have adequate resources to continue In operational exsstence for the
foreseeable future For thus reason they continue to adopt the going concern basts N prepanng the accounts

Auditors
In accordance with the provisions of Section 234ZA of the Companies Act 1885, each of the directors at the date of approval of this
report confims that

* So far as the director 1s aware there 1s no relevant audit information of which the company's auditors are unaware, and

* The diractor has taken all of the steps that he or she ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself or herself aware
of any relevant audrt information and to establish that the company’s auditors are aware of that information

Deloitte & Touche LLP have expressed ther wilingness to continug in office as auditors and a resolution to re-appoint them will be
propesed at the forthcoming AGM

Q\\/L‘ M

P M Cook secrgtary
4 July 2007
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Remuneration report

The directors submit ther report on remuneration for the year ended 30 Apnl 2007

This report has been approved and adopted by the board and has been prepared in accordance with the Directors’ Remuneration
Report Regulations 2002 (‘the Regulations’) and the Listing Rules of the Financia! Services Authonty in accordance with the
Regulations, the tables of Directors’ Share Options under the Deferred Share Scheme, COSOP and tables of Long-Term Incentive Plan
awards In section 3, and 1he whole of section 4 have been subject to audt The remaining pasts of section 3 and sections 1, 2 and 5
are not subject to audit

1 The remuneration committee {‘the committee’)

The board has appointed a remuneration committee which considers, for recommendation to the board, company polcy on
remuneration and condiions of service, and, within the terms of the agreed policy, approves the composition and level of remuneration
of executive directors, the charman of the company and such other members of the executive management as it 1s designated to
consider The board has accepted, without amendment, the committee’s recommendations

The comimittee members during the year compnsed, Mr P J Stone, Mr T D Meville-Ross, Mr L Cullen, Mr Dag Detter and Ms Alicja
Lesmiak Mr P J Stone served as charman Mr M D Struckett, group chief executive, 1s invited 10 join its meetings, as appropnate
The group company secretary 15 the secretary to the committee No director takes part in discussion on ther own remuneration

2 Remuneration policy

In determinng an appropnate remuneration policy for recommendation to the board, the committee’s objective s to ensure that the
group 1s able to attract and retan high quality professional staff while incentrsing exceptional performance Basic salary and beneiits
are set at a leve! having regard to other comparable listed comparies and those within the professional senaces sector and are
moniiored on a regular basis Remuneration for execuive directors and serior executives takes account of the company's overall
performance, achievement of corporate objectives and personal contribution, through an annual performance related bonus scheme
and, for long-term performance, by the award of shares or options under the Long-Term Reward Plan (LTRP}, approved at the AGMin
September 2006

To assist the committee In determining remuneration policy, atthough they are not members of the committee, information and advice
has been provided and recommendations have been made by Mr M D Struckett, {other than in respect of his own position) and

by the managing director group services, Mr T J Gerrard  This includes information from internal and ndependent sources on the
remuneration for comparable positions in isted comparies and in the professional services sector External adwice during the year
was receved from Hewrtt, Bacon & Woodrow Lumited who have no other connection to the group, as appoainted by the committee

3 Remuneration of executive directors and semor executives
The remuneration packages for executive directors consist of the following elements

*» Salary and benefits

» Performance related bonus
* Pension

s Long-Term Incentive Plans

and are structured to retate reward to both corporate and individual performance Details of all payments to executive drectors,
which are disclosed in section 4 on page 38, show the retative value of the basic and performance related elemenits of ther
remuneration The group’s remuneration structure 1s such that n 2006/07 the highest paid employees within the group werg not
directors of the parent company

i) Salary and benefits

Basic salanes for executive directors and other semior executives are reviewed by the remuneration committee annually, having regard
to competitive market practices and remuneration levels in companies which it considers io be comparable by taking into account the
nature of therr business, therr market capitalsation and annual turnover, the committee’s own jJudgement of the performance of the
group’s businesses and the contnbution made by indmidual directors

The main benefits provided to the executive directors and sermor executves are the use of a company car or the prowsion of a cash
allowance, medical nsurance and ife assurance cover Details of directors’ emoluments are gven n section 4 on page 38
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ti) Annual performance related bonus scheme

UK based staff, ncluding executive directors, participate in a performance related bonus scheme Payments under the scheme are
based on the achievement of profit and operational targets, which are set so that they are relevant both to the specilic circumstances of
the company and the performance of the indmdual against ther annually agreed objectves In the case of the executive direciors, any
performance related bonus s based on the achievernent of therr objectives and group performance and any payment to them 1s made
partly from the UK bonus scheme and partly from a discretionary bonus pool related to the pre-tax profits of the group, which provides
indwidual performance bonuses aganst pre-set group-related objectives

The UK bonus scheme consists of two components

a) Profit share — an annual bonus scheme in which all UK based employees are entitled to participate, where the bonus is directly
related to the performance of the ndmdual aganst chjectives set for the year, and

b) Indmdual performance bonus — the mamn purpose of this component Is to create flexibility in the allocation of bonus amounts based
on an ndmdual's contnbution and the overall success of the company Bonus awards to ndividuals are determined by sconng individual
performance dunng the year aganst pre-set obyectives, covenng five areas business development, client relatonship management,
personal financial performance, people management and nsk management

The calculation of the discretionary bonus pool from which these two components are paid and the calculation of the discretionary
bonus pool In relation to group-related objectives are directly related to, respectively, the audited pre-bonus, pre-tax profits of the UK
operating companies or the group so as to provide both for a return to shareholders and for the creation of a bonus pool for distnbution
to employees

The remuneration committee agrees bonus payments, which are not pensionable
m) Pensions

The executive directors, apart from Mr D M Gray and C Y Leung are members of the company’s non-contnbutory money purchase
penston scheme of which Mr M D Struckett and Mr T J Hodgson are deferred members

) Long-Term Incentive Plans

At the Annual General Meeting in September 2006 approval was gven to implement a new Long-Term Incentive arrangement, known
as the DTZ 2006 Long-Term Reward Plan (LTRP} The company has confirmed the strategy of arming to become, a leading global
provider of integrated property solutions to clients Achievement of this strategy will require a greater focus on long-term resuits, and will
require significant cross-working between the different service Iines wathin the company in order to prowde the integrated solutions that
clients are seeking

The remuneration committee had therefore concluded that, In order better to support this business strategy, redesigned long-term
Incentive arrangements should be intraduced, to form a significant proportion of the total package in future years, so as to

* Ensure market competitveness of the package for senior management roles,
+ Shift the focus of the Incentve arrangements to the longer term,
* Reward growth in group profitability, thereby encouraging cross-busmess line and cross-terntory integration, and

* Enhance algnment between the company’s senior executives and long-term shareholder value ¢reation, prowiding an opportunity
for the key senior people to share n the long-term success of the company

Intially, the new Long-Term Reward Plan {the 'Plan’) has been open prncipally to UK Participants but it 1s ntended to roll it out globally,
to the temtones in which DTZ has a major presence, n the short to medium term
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The plan has four components

Deferred Bonus Plan

Under the Plan, a percentage of any annual bonus payable, that exceeds a value prescnbed each year by the remuneration committee,
will be delivered as an award of Shares ('Deferred Shares'), the receipt of which will be dependent on continuing employment within the
group This element of the Plan incorporates the previous deferred bonus arrangements

The fonmula for determining the percentage of the annual bonus that 1s delivered In Deferred Shares and the threshold for deferral
determined by the remuneration committee 1s disclosed each year in the remuneration report For the operation of the Plan in 2007,
the following tiered structure has applied to determine the value of the annual bonus that will be delivered in Deferred Shares

* 10% of any annual bonus that Is In excess of £100,000 but less than or equal to £250,000 (ie a maximum of £25,000), plus
s 20% of any annual bonus that Is In excess of £250,000

Co-investment Plan

Under the Plan, the remuneratton committee may invite selected employees to make a further investment ('Co-investment'} in shares
which must te held for a three year penod Indwduals who participate in Co-investment will recerve awards of free Matching Shares
The Matching Shares wall vest at the end of the Retention Penod if the indmdual remains in employment with the group {subject to
‘goed leaver' provistons) and to the extent that they have retained their Co-invested Shares Vesting of the Matching Shares is also
subject to the satisfaction of a performance condition over a three year Performance Penod (the ‘Performance Perod’)

The remuneration commitiee determines each year the indviduals to whom Co-investment 1s 1o be offered, the Co-investment
parameters, the matching muttiples and the performance condition

In 2007 1t 15 envisaged that Co-investment is offered only 1o Participants who receive Deferred Shares m respect of their annual bonus
for the immediately preceding financial year and that the maxmum number of Co-invested Shares would be bmited to the number of
the Deferred Shares awarded in respect of that year Mowever, the remuneraton committee reserves the nght to offer Co-investment
mare widely

The remuneration committee proposes that the matching multiples for the 2007 operation of Co-nvestrnent will range from 20% of the
number of Co-invested Shares, for threshold performance to 100% of the number of Co-invested Shares for maximum performance

The remuneration committee has confirmed that the performance condition attaching to the Matching Shares wall be based on group
Eamings Per Share ('EPS’) annual growth targets The range of EPS growth targets s set each year by the remuneration committee,
takang nto account the prospects for the business at that time and analysts' forecasts of group EPS for the ensung three years

The proposed EPS growth targets for awards of Matching Shares under the Plan will be ahigned with those for the LTIP awards
{see below} For the 2007 operation of the Plan, the following vesting schedule has been used

Group EPS Growth Matching Shares as mutiple of Co nvested Shares
<RPl + 5% pa 0% of number of Co-invested Shares
RPI + 5% pa 20% of number of Co-invested Shares
RPI + 12% pa 100% of number of Co-Invested Shares

The number of Matching Shares awarded will be determined on a pro rata basis, if average arnual real group EPS growth 1s between
5% and 12% per annum

Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP} awards

The LTIP awards are designed to provide a long-term focus to senior members of the management team The remunerahon committee
has agreed to extend participation in LTIP awards in the 2007 vear of the Plan to those executives whose roles require them 10 take a
longer term perspective

LTIP awards will be structured to prowide the full value of the undertying share to Participants Awards will vest at the end of a three year
penod, providing the Participant continues to be employed within the group and to the extent that the petformance condions have
been met over the Performance Penod

Each year, the remuneration committee will detemmne indmdual levels of parbcipation Maximum grants will be 150% of annual salary

The remuneration committee has determined that the performance condition for the 2007 LTIP awards will be based on real annual
group EPS growth targets as follows

Group EPS growth Porceniage of LTIP award vesting
<RPl + 5% pa il
RPi + 5% pa 20%
RPI + 12% pa 100%

The perceniage of an LTIP award vesting for average annual real group EPS growth between 5% and 12% will be calculated on a
pro rata basis
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Company Share Option Plan {{COSOP’) options

The Plan will provide for the grant of market value optons under a COSOP The COSOP will consist of an HM Revenue & Customs
(‘HMRC’) approved section and an unapproved section Options over shares havng a value at the tme of grant of up to the mit
specified from tme to time by HMRC {currently £30,000) will be granted under the HMRC approved secton and all other COSOP
options will be granted under the unapproved section

COSOP options will be subject to performance conditions sefected from time to time by the remuneration commitiee For the 2007
COSOP options granted under the Plan, the remuneration committee has determined that the performance condiion will be based
on a real annual group EPS growth target, smilar to that attaching to LTIP and matching share awards under the Co-mvestment Plan

For COSOP options, the following group EPS growth targets will apply
Percentage of COSOP option vesting

Group EPS growth Approved options Unapproved oplions
<APl + 5% pa nil !l
RPI + 5% pa 100% 20%
RP} + 12% pa 100% 100%

The percentage of an unapproved COSOP option vesting for average annual real group EPS growth between 5% and 12% will be
calculated on a pro rata basis

Eligibility

Al executive drectors and employees of the group are eligible to participate in the Long-Term Reward Plan The remuneration
committee will approve the participation in the Plan of ndmdual employees each year The remuneration committee will determing each
year the types of award to be made 10 each Parhicipant

Exercise penod

The penod dunng which a Participant may exercise a vested option granted in respect of Deferred Shares, an LTIP award or an award
of Matching Shares will be the penod of 12 months after the end of the Restneted Penod The period during which a Participant may
exercise a vested COSOP option will be the penod of seven years after the end of the Restnicted Pencd

Employment condition

If a Participant ceases to be employed within the group before the end of a Restncted Penod in respect of any awards, his or her
Deferred Share award, any Matching Share awards, any COSOP options and any LTIP awards will lapse forthwath, except in the
crrcumstances descnbed under Good Leavers below, unless the remuneration committee in its absolute discretion determines otherwise

Change of control

In the event of a change of control of the company, f a court sanctions a compromise or arangement under Section 425 of the
Companies Act 1985 or if a resolution 15 passed for the voluntary winding-up of the company the Deferral/Retention and Performance
Penods will come to an end Co-nvested Shares and Deferred Shares will vest in the Pariicipants immediately Matching Share awards,
COSOF options and LTIP awards will vest In the Participants to the extent that the relevant performance condtion has been satsfied,
prorated to reflect the part of the Restncted Penod that has elapsed at the date of the event Any options will be exercisable for a penod
of up to six months from the date of vesting

In the event of a change of control of the company, the Plan will aliow for awards to be exchanged for awards over shares of equivalent
value In the acquinng company, by agreement with the acquinng company

Timing
COSOP options and Co-invested Share, Deferred Share, Matching Share and LTIP awards are granted within a 42 day penod following
the announcement of half year or year end results for the financial year

The first grant of awards under the Plan were made within the 42 day penod following the AGM at which the Plan receved shareholder
approval

Dividends or dividend equivalents

Dwidends or dvidend eguivalent amounts in respect of Deferred Share awards, Co-invested Share awards, Matching Share awards and
LTIP awards may be rolled up over the Resincted Penod and paid out to Participants to the extent that therr respective Plan awards
vest at the end of the Restncted Penod

Share Incentive Plan {'SIP’)

At the Annual General Meeting in September 2006 approval was given to implement a new Share Incentive Plan (SIP") This was in
order to ensure the alignment of all of our employees’ interests with those of shareholders' and to prowde thern with an opportunity
to mvest In the company The SIP will provide for Free Shares, Partnership Shares and Matching Shares but for the foreseeable future
it 15 being restncted to the purchase by employees of Partnershup Shares

The Share Incentve Plan {'SIP") 1s an HMRC approved all employee scheme under which employees must generally participate on
simiar terms
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Directors’ Share Options under the DTZ Holdings plc Deferred Share Scheme

Noticnal
a A g scoweds  Bouse  Dapsomwnch
Name 1 May 2006 Gronted Exercsed 30 Aprd 2007 £ 30 Apnl 2007 prce exercsable Expery dte
M D Struckett 50,000 - 50,000 - 78,500 - 11 July 2003 11 July 2007
50,000 - - 50000 81,250 25,000 nl 13 July 2004 13 July 2008
50,000 - - 50,000 55000 21,000 nl 18July 2005 18 July 2009
50,000 - - 50000 40,000 17,000 nl 11 July 2006 11 July 2010
30,000 - - 30000 42,000 8,000 M 16 July 2007 16 July 2011
30,000 - - 30,000 66,000 6,000 nil 7 July 2008 Tduly 2012
10,000 - 10,000 67,000 1,000 nit 5 July 2009 5 July 2013
T S Maynard 32,086 - 32,086 - 30,000 - nil 1 May 2005 1 May 2009
20,000 - 20,000 - 16,000 - nl 11 July 2006 11 July 2010
20,000 - - 20000 28,000 5,000 al 16July 2007 16 July 2011
20,000 - - 20000 44,000 4,000 il 7 Juty 2008 7 July 2012
4,000 - 4,000 27,000 - nil 5 July 2009 5 July 2013
T J Hodgson 20,000 - - 20000 16,000 7,000 b 11 July 2006 11 July 2010
20,000 - - 20000 44,000 4,000 nil 7 July 2008 7 July 2012
8,000 - 8,000 54,000 - nil 5 July 2009 5 July 2013
R HH Peto 15,000 - - 15000 16,500 6,000 nl 18July 2005 18 July 2009
20,000 - - 20,000 16,000 7,000 nl 11 July 2006 11 July 2010
20,000 - - 20000 28,000 5,000 nl 16 July 2007 16 July 2011
30,000 - - 30000 66,000 6,000 nil 7 July 2008 7 July 2012
8,500 - 8,500 57,000 1,000 ni 5 July 2009 5 July 2013
K B O'Hggins 30,000 - - 30000 24000 10,000 nt 11 July 2008 11 July 2010
20,000 - - 20000  28.000 5,000 nd 168July 2007 16 July 2011
20,000 - - 20000 44,000 4,000 il 7 July 2008 7 July 2012
4,500 - 4500 30,000 - il 5 July 2009 5 July 2013
CY Leung - - - - - - - - -
Totals 547,086 35,000 102,086 480,000

No options held by the above named directors lapsed dunng the year The rmid-market pnce of the shares at the date of exercise by
Mr M D Struckett was 649 pence The aggregate gain made on the exercise of the share options by Mr M D Struckett, was £324,500
(2006 nf) The mid-market prices of the shares at the date of exercise by Mr T S Maynard were 649 pence and 624 5 pence
respectively The aggregate gains made on the exercise of the share options by Mr T 8§ Maynard were £129,800 and £200,377

respectively (2006 i)

Under the Deferred Share Scheme, upon exercise of an option, a payment equal to the notional dvdend the shares would have
recerved from the date of grant to the date of exercise 1s made, plus an amount for notional interest In respect of the options
exercised in the year by Mr M D Struckett the payment made was £22,470 (2006 nil) In respect of the options exercised In the
year by Mr T S Maynard, the payments made were £4,463 and £11,885 respectively (2006 i)

Since the year end, the remunerailon committee has recommended that Deferred Share options over ordinary shares be granted

o Mr M D Struckett, Mr R H H Peto and Mr K B O'Higgins These have a nominal exercise pnce and are exercisable at any time

between three and four years after the grant date At the date of grant, the estimated vatues of these were £78,000, £562,000 and
£52,000 respectively

in addiion, the remuneration committee has recommended that LTIP awards be granted t¢ Mr M D Siruckett, Mr R H H Peto and
Mr K B O"'Higgins in respect of 50,000, 30,000 and 30,000 shares respecively

These arnounts are not included in the above table

36 | DTZ Holdings plc Annual report and accounts 2007

Remuneration report




Directors’ Share Options under the COSOP

Al dung dung At Opton pace Date from which

Name 1 May 2006 the year theyear 30 April 2007 pence exerasable Expry dlate
M D Struckett 18,126 - - 18,126 1655 16 July 2007  15.July 2014
1,874 - - 1,874 1655  16July 2007 15 July 2011
T & Maynard 20,000 - 20,000 - 895 11 Juy 2006 10July 2013
7,312 - ~ 7,312 1855  16.July 2007 15 July 2014
2,688 - - 2,688 1655 16 July 2007 15 July 2011
T J Hodgson 18,126 - - 18,126 1855 16 July 2007  15.July 2014
1,874 - - 1,874 1655 16 July 2007 15 July 2011
R HH Peto 18,126 - - 18,126 1855 16 July 2007 15 July 2014
1,874 - - 1,874 1655 18 July 2007 15 July 2011
K B O'Higgins 20,000 - - 20,000 895 11Juty 2007 10 July 2013
7312 - - 7,312 1655 16 July 2007 15 July 2014
2,688 - - 2,688 1655 16 July 2007 15 July 2011
D M Gray 20,000 - 20,000 - 895 11 Juy 2006 10 July 2013
CY Leung - - - - - - -
Totals 140,000 - 40,000 100,000

The md-market pnce of shares at 1 May 2006 and 30 Apnl 2007 was 643 pence and 596 pence respectively The share pnce dunng
the year ranged from 566 5 pence to 835 0 pence

Directors’ Long-Term Incentive Plan awards

On 6 October 2006 DTZ Holdings plc granted the following Long-Term Incentive Plan awards under Parts One and Two of The DTZ
Holdings plc 2006 Long-Term Reward Plan, the Long-Term Incentive Plan {the 'Plan’) following approval of the Plan rules at the AGM
on 7 September 2006

Nama Pn shares
M D Struckett 33,587
T S Maynard 20,038
T J Hodgson 21,755
R HH Peto 18,320
K B O'Hggns 18,320

The date upon which the Long-Term Incentive Plan awards will normally vest wilk be 6 October 2009
In each case the award pnce shall be nil

The LTIP awards as set out above are granted and will vest subject to the terms and conditions set out in the Plan and also subject
to the performance target besng satisfied

In addion, on the same date, the following directors made further investments in the company's shares under the Co-investment Plan
(the ‘Plan’) under Part Four of The DTZ Holdings plc 2006 Long-Term Reward Plan, following approval of the Plan rules at the AGM on
7 Sepiember 2006

Narme Plan shares
R H H Peto 8,694
K B O'Higgins 4,603

Mr R H H Peto and Mr K B O'Higgins were also granted a matching share award under Part Four of The OTZ Holdings pic 2006
Long-Term Reward Plan for 8,694 and 4,603 plan shares, respecively

In additicn, under the Share Incentive Plan (‘SiP') Mr K B O'Higgins held 40 shares at 30 Apnl 2007, hawng acquired these on 5 Apnd
2007 (19 shares) and 30 Apnl 2007 (21 shares), respectively

Details of the other company share opiion schemes are set oul on pages 67 to 69 of the Notes to the accounts
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4 Remuneration of directors

The chairman of the board, Mr T D Medvile-Ross, I1s a non-executive director and his fee, and those of the other non-executive directors,
1s determined by the board, having regard to the contnbution required from and the responsibility taken by non-executive directors and
current market practice, including the level of fees pard to non-executive drrectors of comparable companies Non-executive directors
are not eligible for performance related bonuses or grants of ophons and therr fees are not pensionable Mr P J Stone’s fees are payable
to a company of which be s a director

The following table shows a breakdown of the remuneration of the directors for the year ended 30 Apnl 2007

Performancs Pension
andloes  pmmerts  Motwh) Sl o Geted 207 205

Name £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000
M D Stuckett 244 468 19 731 37 768 691
T S Maynard 139 266 16 a1 194 615 458
T J Hodgson 206 510 16 732 31 763 585
K B O'Higgins 172 300 17 489 82 571 446
R H H Peto 173 275 9 457 139 596 555
O M Gray 98 125 12 235 15 250 205
CY Leung 293 - 9 302 - 302 -
T D Mehlle-Ross 80 - - 80 - 80 80
L Culen 35 - - 35 - 35 35
D Detter 30 - - 30 - 30 30
P J Stone 33 - - 33 - 33 33
A Lesriak 30 - - 30 - 30 30
1,533 1,944 o8 3,575 498 4,073 3,148

Nots 1 The main benefits prowded consst of the provision of a fully expensed car or prowsion of cash allowancs and medical msurance

Note 2 Pension contribubons 1o the group's money purchase pension scheme nclude, where appropnate salary sacnfices made by ndmdual directors and any payments

n eu of the company's contnbubon to the scheme for those executive drectors who no longer participate in the scheme  The company’s contribution 1o the pension scheme
15 15% of basic salary

Note 3 Mr T J Hodgson resigned on 24 May 2007 C Y Leung was apponted on 14 December 2006

Pensions

Three (2006 five) of the executive directors actively participate in the DTZ Group Directors’ Pension Scheme, which 1s a defined
contrbution scherme open to senior employees and which 1s more particularly described In note 27 to the Financial statements on
pages 71 to 73 The Scheme provides pension and other benefits Pension entittements, which are based on basic salary, are subject
to restnctions proposed by the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 The company also makes contributions to the personal
pension plan of Mr D M Gray

Executive directors' contracts
it 1s the company’s policy and practice to provide for a roling notice penod of no greater than six months n the service contracts
of executive directors Thewr service contracts do not include provision for a specific payment in the event of early termination

Details of the servce contracts of the executve directors are set out In the table below

Narme Date of curment contract Netioe penoct
M D Struckett 1 May 1987 6 months
T S Maynard 1 May 2002 6 months
T J Hodgson 17 February 1993 6 months
DM Gray 1 May 2000 6 months
R H H Peto 1 May 1987 6 months
K O'Higgins 1 October 2001 6 months
CY Leung 14 December 2006 6 months
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Non-executive directors

Al non-executive directors are elected for a term of three years unless required under the rotation provisions of the Articles of the
company to submit for re-election The appointment of non-executive directors can be terminated by erther side without notice
or compensation

The dates of appontment of non-executive directors are shown in the table below

Unexpred peniod at
Name Date of appontment Date of cument contract 30 Aprl 2007
T D Melvlle-Ross 17 January 2000 17 January 2005 8 months
P J Stone 26 Apnl 2001 4 Apnl 2007 35 months
L Cullen 11 September 2003 23 August 2006 28 months
D Detter 8 March 2004 4 Apnl 2007 34 months
A Lesniak 8 March 2004 4 Apnl 2007 34 months

External appointments

The company recognises that executive directors may be iInvited to become non-executive directors of other comparies and that
such appointments can broaden ther knowledge and expenence, to the benefit of the company The board must approve any
such appointment An individual director will normally be required to account to the company for fees recenved In respect of such
directorships unless otherwise approved

5 Shareholders' return

The graph below shows the Total Shareholder Return in respect of the company’s ordinary shares of 5 00 pence each for the five years
ended 30 Apnl 2007 relative 1o the total return for the FTSE Small Cap Index The directors belleve that the FTSE Small Cap Index,

as an index of companies of similar size to the company, Is the most appropnate aganst which to compare total shareholder return
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P J Stene charman of remuneration commitiee
4 July 2007
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Corporate governance statement

Compliance with the Combined Code

on Corporate Governance

Throughout the year ended 30 Apnl 2007 the comparty has
been in compliance with the provisions set out n Section 1 of
the July 2003 FRC Combined Code on Corporate Governance
(the 'Combined Code') except, as specified below, as regards
the norination of a serwor Independent director

The hoard continues to endorse and apply the ponciples of good
corporate governance reflected in the Combined Cede and in
accordance with the Combined Code, a narrative statement of
how the company has apphed the provisions of the Combined
Code I1s set out below

The board of directors

The board compnses Mr T D Metville-Ross, group chaman,

Mr M D Struckett, group chief executive, four other executive
directors and four non-executve directors There 1s a separation
of the roles and responsibilities of the charman and the

chief executive The board has considered carefully the need to
appoint a senior independent director and concluded that, in view
of the calibre and number of the non-executve directors, i 18 not
necessary to nominate a senior ndependent director at present

The directors submit themselves for election at the first AGM after
ther appointment and for re-election at least every three years
thereafter Detalls of the directors submitting themselves for
re-election at the AGM on 6 Septernber 2007 are shown on
page 30

As group chaman, Mr Mehllle-Ross 1s not considered
independent, but the other non-executive directors are
considered by the board to be independent of management
and free from any business or ather relationships that could
matenally interfere with the exercise of ther independent
judgement Non-executive directors are apponted for penods
of up to three years Biographies of the non-executive directors
appear on pages 28 and 29 and demonstrate the calibre and
breadth of experence they provide to the company, which
complernents the industry expenence of the executive directors
Through the company secretary, all directors can, if they so wsh,
take ndependent adwice at the expense of the company

The board has a formal schedule of matters reserved to 1t for
decision that includes

* Approval of annual budgets and strategic plans,

* The establishment of new businesses or businesses in
new geographical areas,

» Acquisiions and disposals, major capital projects and
matenal contracts,

» Changes t0 the group's caprtal, corporate or management
structure

and otherwise delegates specific responsibiiies to the board
commitees, as descnbed below All drectors recenve written
reports pnor to each board meeting that enable them 1o take
informed decisions on the comorate and business issues which
they are considenng The company secretary 1s responsible to
the board for ensunng that its procedures are followed and 1s
avallable to ndmidual directors for adwvice on those procedures

The company secretary supporis the group chaiman and group
chief execuive In ensunng new directors recenve appropnate
training and induchion to the company and that ongoing traning
for directors 1s provided when a need for such traning 1s identified
as part of the board's annual evaluation process

Board evaluation

Fommal evaluation of the performance of the board and of the
prnncipal board commuittees was conducted dunng the year
under the leadership of the group chamman and the respective
committee charmen This was done through structured
discussions, including separate discussions dealing with the
chamman's performance The board and each committee

has concluded that its performance and that of its indrdual
members 18 generally satisfactory and 1s ahigned wath the
company’s strategic objecives and the interests of shareholders

Board committees

The board has established the folowing commitiees” details of
which are set out below, each with defined terms of reference,
procedures, responsibilites and powers Each commitiee
reviews its terms of reference and effectiveness at least annually
The minutes of comimittee meetings are normally sent to all
directors and oral reports of committee activites are given at
board meetings The terms of reference of the board committees
are avadable, on request, from the company secretary

Audit committee

The audit commitiee 1s chaired by Mr L Cullen and comprises
the non-executive directors excluding the group charman

The group charman ceased to be a member of the committee
dunng the year

The external and internal auditors, the group chairman, group
chief executive and the group finance director normally attend
mesetings of the committee and the commuitee also meets
separatety with the external and internal auditors without
management present The audit committee discharges its
responsibiibies by meeting at least three tmes a year o

* Review the internim and annual financial staterents pnor to
submission to the board,

* Kgep under review the operation and effectiveness of the
company’s internal financial control and accounting policies,

* Monitor and review the effectveness of the company's
operational and comphance controls and nsk management,

* Beview the nature and extent of non-audit services providec
by the external auditors, and

* Review the Plans and work of the internal auditors

The audit commiitee also reviews the scope and cost of both
the nternal and external audit and makes a recommendation
to the board regarding re-appomntment of the external auditors

As part of its role in relation to the provision of non-audit senices
by the external audrors, the aucht commitiee agrees with the
external audtors which types of work the external auditors are
permitted to undertake and monitors the nature and extent of
non-audit work undertaken by the external auditors

In forming therr opmicn of the Independence and objectvty of

the external auditors, the audit committee takes into account

the safeguards operating within Delortte & Touche LLP Regard

15 gven to the nature of remuneration receved for other sernces
provided by Deloitte & Touche LLP to the company and, inter alia,
confimation 1s sought from them that the fee payable for the
annual audit s adequate to enable thermn to fulfil therr obligation

in relation to the scope of the audit

The board considers that the members of the audit committee as
a whole have sufficient recent and relevant expenence to cary out
the functions of the committee and has not identified a particular
member of the committee as having such expenence
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Nomination committee

The nommation committee 1s chared by the group charman
and compnses the non-executive directors and the group chief
executive There were no changes to the composihion of the
committee in the year

The committee meeis as and when equired to

* Review the structure, size and composiion of the board
and make recommendations as to any changes,

¢ Keep under review the leadership needs of the company
and consider succession planning for directors and other
senior executives,

* Assist In identifying and become invalved In the selection
process for candidates to fill board vacancies, and

* Evaluate the time required fo be spent by the non-executve
directors and ensure that what is required of them 1s
clearly specified

Remuneration committee

The remuneration committee I1s chawed by Mr P J Stone and
compnses the non-executive directors excliuding the group
charman The group chairman ceased to be a member of the
commuttee durng the year The committee meets at least once a
year and considers, for recommendation to the board, company
policy on remuneration and conditions of service, and, wathin the
terms of the agreed policy, approves the composition and level of
remuneration of executive directors, the group charman and such
other members of the executve management as 1t 1s designated
to consider

When the commuttee considers matters relating to an indmdual,
that person is not present nor does that person act in relation to
any matiers relating to lhm

The remuneration report 1S on pages 32 to 39

Meetings

Dunng the year there were ten board meetings, five audit
committee meetings, one remuneration committee meeting
and one nomnation committee mesting Attendance at these
mestings by indnadual drectors 1s grven in the table below

Nurmber of meetings attenciect

Board AUl Remunerston  Nomnaton
T D Melle-Ross 10 2 1
M D Struckett 10 1
T S Maynard 10
T J Hodgson e]
R HH Peto 10
K B O'Higgins 10
D M Gray 9
I Cullen 9 5 1 1
D Detter 10 5 1 1
P J Stone 10 4 i 1
A Lesmak 10 5 1 1
CY Leung** 3

T D MehAle-Ross ceased to be a member of the audt comrmittea from 27 June 2006
*CY Leung was appointed to the board on 14 December 2006

Relations with shareholders

The company reports formally to shareholders twice each year,
when its half-year and full-year results are announced The AGM
takes place in London and all the directors who are able to attend
are avalable, formally at the meeting and mformally afterwards,
for questions

The group chief executive and group finance director hold
regular meetings throughout the year with institutional investors
and analysts

Statement of directors’ responsibilities

in respect of the financial statements

United Kingdom law requires the directors to prepare financial
statemnents for each financial year that provide a true and far view
of the state of affars of the company and of the group as at the
end of the financial year and of the profit and loss of the group
for that financial year In prepanng those financial statements the
directors are required to

« Select sutable accounting policies and apply them consistently

« Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable
and prudent,

= State whether applicable accounting standards have been
followed, and

+ Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis
unless it 1s inapproprate to presume that the group will continue
n business

The drectors are responsible for ensunng the mamntenance of
proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial postion of the group and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with
the Compantes Act 1885 The directors are also responsibie

for ensunng the operation of systems of internal control and for
taking reasonable steps to safeguard the assets of the company
and the group, iIncluding {aking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other imegulanties

Statement on internal control and nsk management

The board takes ultimate responsibility for the group’s system of
internal controls and reviews therr effectiveness Such a system
can provide reasonable but not absolute assurance aganst
rsstaterment or loss The system of control 1s designed to enable
the board to govern and manage the business to achieve the
group's nsk management objecives but the system cannot

be an end In itself or eliminate the nsk of falure to achieve the
group’s objectives

The board confirms that it has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the system of internal control and nsk
management This review was based on reports 1o the board
and the audit committee, prepared by the internal audrtors and
management These reports covered the nature and extent of the
significant nsks facing the group, ther potential impact, kelihood
of matenalising, key controls, and mitigating actions, together
with early warming systems and additional action that requires
implementation, Including the work of Internat audrt

Corporate govemnance staternent
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The pnncipal elements of the group’s system of mtemal control
and nsk management are

* The board's vanous committees, which have defined financial
authonties and operatonal responsibilities designed to enable
effective decision making A matnx management structure
operates within the business focusing on commercial
matters, the technical excellence of the group and client
relationship management,

The group practices committee, which 1s chared by the group
cheef executive, meets regularly io review the management of
ngk ansing out of the group’s professional, fee earming actvities,

L]

The group nsk management committee, which s chared

by the group chief executive, meets regularly to review the
management of nsk ansing out of the group’s actmties other
than those ansing from s professional, fee earning actmties,

In the group’s main subsidianes, joNt ventures and associated
undertakings, certain of the group executive directors and
other senior employees are members of the vanous statutory
and, where appropnate, management boards These boards
and ther committees meet regularly to constder significant
commercial matters, ncluding nsk management and internal
control, and have formal reporting structures to the board

An ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing
the signficant nsks faced by the group in accordance with the
Turnbull Guidance on nternal controls, has been in place for
the year under review and up to the date of approval of the
annual report A group wide nsk register maps the matnx
management structure of the business to identrfy the nsks the
business faces, ther potential impact, likellhood of occunence
and the key controls, financial, operational and compliance and
action plans to mitigate these,

The audit cornmittee assists the board in discharging its
responsibility to review the system of intemal control,

The group executive conducts a top down dentfication
and review of the main nsks facing the group and the
control function to meigate these,

An internal audit function, which has been outsourced to
KPMG, that 1S subject to the controlling direction of the aucit
commiitee Internal audit prowide to the audit comimittee an
independent assessment of the group's system of internal
control, through reviewing how effectively key nsks are baing
managed, and assist management n the effective discharge
of thewr respensibilities by cammying out independent appraisals
and making recommendations for improvement,

* Business policies and internatonal quality standards that are
mantaned across the UK are being progressvely embedded
in the pan-European and subsidiary businesses of the group,

+ The group 1s also subject to regulatory control by externat
bodies such as the FSA and the RICS and 1s audited in respect
of the quality standard ISO 9001

Health & safety

The company recognises that the mantenance of ugh standards
of heatth & safety management 1s imperative to ensure the welfare
of its employees Clients too are placing a greater emphasis

on heatth & safety when deciding which service prowiders they

will work wath Our commitment to improving health & safety
performance will demonstrate our abiity to meet therr expectations,
and help the group to win more business The company's policy

I1s to stnve towards an integrated approach to health & safety
throughout the supply chain

Managing the environment

The company regards the promotion of an environmental strategy
an important element in operating a successiul business, not onfy
to minimise its impact on global resources but also to mantan
good nvestor and chent relations

We beleve that we have already taken significant steps in
reducing the potential for the group’s activiies impactng on the
environment, by the development of environmental standards for
properties, training for employees and the adeption of a recycling
programme These intiatives have been acknowledged through
a number of clent award schemes

Approved by the board of directors and signed on behalf of
the board

f(&&%

4 July 2007
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Independent auditors’ report

To the members of DTZ Holdings plc

We have audrted the group and parent company financial
statements (the ‘financial statement”) of DTZ Holdings ple

for the year ended 30 Apnl 2007 which compnse of the Group
Income Statement, the Group and Parent Company Balance
Sheets, the Group and Parent Company Cash Flow Statements,
the Group Statement of Recogrused Income and Expense and
the related notes 1 10 31 These financial statements have been
prepared under the accounting policies set out theren We have
also audted the information in the Directors’ Remuneration report
that 1s descnbed as having been audited

This report 1s made solely to the company’s members, as a body,
In accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985

Cur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state

to the company’s members those matters we are required

to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and

the company's members as a body, for our audr work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed

Respective responsthilities of directors and auditors

The directors’ responsibiities for prepanng the Annual Report,
the Dwrectors’ Remuneration report and the financial staternents
In accordance with applicable law and Internatronal Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the Eurgpean Union
are set out In the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

Our responsibility 1s to audit the financial statements and the
part of the Drectors’ Remuneration report to be audited in
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements
and Internatonal Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland)

We regport to you our opinion as to whether the financial
statements give a true and far vew and whether the financial
statements and the part of the Directors' Remuneration eport
to be audited have been properly prepared mn accordance with
the Companigs Act 1885 and, as regards the group financial
statements, Article 4 of the 1AS Regulation We also report

to you whether in our opimion the information given in the
Direclors’ report 1s consistent with the financial statements

In addition we report 10 you i, in our opinion, the company has
not kept proper accounting records, § we have not recerved all
the information and exptanations we require for our audit, or If
information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration
and other transactions 1s not disclosed

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects
the company’s comphance with the nine provisions of the 2003
Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules

of the Financial Seraces Autheonty, and we report 1f 1t does not
We are not required to consider whether the board's statements
on internal control cover all nsks and controls, or forrm an opnien
on the effectiveness of the group’s corporate govemance
procedures or its nsk and control procedures

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report
as descnbed in the contents section and consider whether

it 1s consistent with the audited financial statements The other
information compnses only the Directors’ report, the unaudited
part of the Directors’ Remuneration report, the Chairman’s
Statement, the Business and Financial Review and the Comporate
Governance Statement We consider the imphications for our
report If we become aware of any apparent misstatements

or matenal nconsistencies with the finangial statements

Our responstbiliiies do not extend 1o any further information
outside the Annual Report

Basis of audit opimon

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) 1ssued by the Audring
Practices board An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of
evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures i the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration report

o be audied It also Includes an assessment of the significant
estimates and judgments made by the directors in the preparaton
of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting
policies are appropnate to the group's and company's
crcumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtan al the
nformation and explanations which we considered necessary

in order to provide us with sufficient ewdence to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements and the part of the
Dwectors’ Remuneration report to be audited are free from
matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other
megulanty or error In forming our opinion we also evaluated the
overall adequacy of the presentation of mformaton m the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration report to
be audted

Opinion
In our opinion

+ the group financial statements give a true and far view, n
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,
of the state of the group’s affars as at 30 Apnl 2007 and
of its profit for the year then ended,

+ the parent company financial statements give a true and far
view, In accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Unicn as applied in accordance with the prowisions of the
Companies Act 1985, of the state of the parent company's
affars as at 30 Apnl 2007,

« the financial statements and the part of the Directors'
Remuneration report to be audited have been property prepared
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards
the group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation,
and

+ the information given in the Directors’ report 1s consistent
with the financial statements

Separate opinion in relation to IFRSs

As explaned n Note 2 to the group financal staterments, the
group in addrizon to complying with its legal obligabon to comply
with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, has also complied
with the IFRSs as issued by the International Accounting
Standards board

In our opinion the group financial statements give a true and far
view, In accordance with IFRSs, of the state of the group’s affars
as at 30 Apnl 2007 and of its profit for the year then ended

dolofe & 7encle LLFP

Deloitte & Touche LLP Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London
4 Juty 2007

Independent auditors report
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Consolidated income statement

Year ended 30 Apnl 2007

2006
£ 000
Continuing operations Nole % Rﬁtota!eag
Revenue 5 310,262 232,369
Stafi costs 6 (195,225) (144,217)
Other operating costs (79,835} (62,389)
Deprecaton (3.051} (2579
(278,111} (209,185)
Operating profit 7 32151 23,184
Share of profits in associated undertakings 6,514 4,684
Total profit from operations including joint ventures and associated undertakings 38,665 27,868
Income from other fixed asset investments 3,893 1,504
Finance income 1,376 1,040
Finance expense (2,139) {751)
Net finance (expense)/income {763) 289
Profit on ordinary activities hefore taxation 41,795 29,661
Taxation on profit on ordihary activities 10 (13,0600 (9.460)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 28,735 20,201
Attnbutable to:
Equity shareholders of the parent 25880 18,965
Minonty interest 2,855 1,236
28,735 20201
Basic earnings per ordinary share 13 4938p 37 87p
Diluted earnings per ordinary share 13 4880p 37 24p
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Consolidated balance sheset

At 30 Apnl 2007

2006
2007 He;aiog
Note 002 Note 4
Non-current assets
Intangble assets 14 94,110 38,382
Property, plant and equipment 15 11422 7,553
Investments In associates 16 7,484 9,726
Other iInvestments — financial assets 17 1,133 2,445
Deferred tax assets 10 5,631 5,761
Trade and other recevables 18 80 92
119,860 63959
Current assets
Work In progress 6,715 4,465
Trade and other receivables 18 111,153 77,869
Tax recoverable 149 485
Cash and cash equvalenis 22 49,798 31,857
167,815 114676
Total assets 287,675 178635
Current habiliies
Bank loans 19 (1,940) (750}
Trade and other payables 20 (122,134) (84.660)
Tax habilies (7,116) (2,268}
Provisions 21 (2,698) {923)
(133,888) (88,601)
Non-current labilrhes
Bark loans 19 (23,861) {750)
Retirement benefit abligations (4,470) {8,989)
Trade and other payables 20 (4,556) (5429
Deferred tax labilties 10 (73) (334)
Provisions 21 (8,718) (8,990)
(41,678) (24,492)
Total habilities {175,566) (113,093)
Net assets 112,109 65542
Equity
Called-up share capital 23 2,865 2,685
Share premium account 24 39,008 16,310
Retaned earnings 24 62,384 42,022
Other reserves 24 2,159 1,530
Equity attnbutable to equity shareholders of the parent 106,416 62,547
Minority interest 24 5,693 2,985
Total equrty 112,109 65,542

These financial statements were approved for 1ssue by the board of directors on 4 July 2007
Signed on hehalf of the board of directors

N R

M D Struckett group chief executve T 8 Maynard group finance director
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Company balance shest

At 30 Apnl 2007

2007 2006
Note 000 £000

Non-current assets

Investments in associates and subsichary compantes 16 15,755 15,530

Other investments - financial assets 17 1 1

15,756 15,631

Current assets

Trade and other recevables 18 66,551 21,786
Cash and cash equivalents an 75
66,922 21,861
Total assets 82,678 37392
Current habslities
Bank loans 19 (750) {750)
Trade and other payables 20 (487) (281)
(1,237) {1,031)
Non-current habilities
Bank loans 19 (23,861) {750)
Prowvisions 21 (2,833) (4,250)
Trade and cther payables 20 (1,757) -
{28,451) {5,000
Total habilties (29,688) {6,031)
Net assets 62,990 31,361
Equity
Called-up share capital 23 2,865 2685
Share premium account 24 39,008 16,310
Retaned earnings 24 11,783 12,366
Other reserves 24 (666) -
Total equity 52,990 31,361

These financial statements were approved and authonsed for 1ssue by the board of directors on 4 July 2007
Signed on behalf of the board of directors

MDD SUH et

M D Struckett group chief executive T S Maynard group fnance director
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Consolidated and company cash flow statement
Year ended 30 Apnl 2007

Group Company
£ oo
2007 Festatad 2007 2006
Note £000 Noto 4 £1000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations A 26159 27,266 (15958) 3,695
Dradends recenved 5,694 3,153 - -
Interest recenved 1,376 1,040 - -
Interest paid (2,139) (751) (126) {115}
Income tax pad (9,285) (7,852) - -
Net cash generaled from/{used In) operating actviies 21,8056 22,856 (16,084) 3,580
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 612 140 - -
Proceeds from sale of investment 1,614 1,600 - 1
Income from other fixed asset investments 2,925 1,504 - -
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (5,381) (3,462) - -
Payment of deferred consideration {2,315) - (1,417} -
Purchase of investrments in associates, joint ventures and other investments
(net of cash and cash equvalents acquired) {18,817}  (2.803) (225) (16)
Net cash used in Investing actities {(21,362) (3.021) (1,642) 5
Cash flows from financing activihes
Proceeds from i1ssue of share capral 429 758 429 758
Procesds from borrowings 25,051 - 23,861 -
Repayment of loans @50 (1,537 {750) {937)
Repayment of finance leases - {12) - -
Dwvidends paid to equity shareholders (5,518) {(3,878) {5,518} (3.878)
Dridends pad to minonties (410) (307} - -
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing actmities 18,802 (4.976) 18,022 (4,057)
Net ncrease/(decrease) m cash and cash equivalents 19,245 14,859 296 (482)
Cash and cash equwvalents at the beginming of the year 31,857 17,030 75 557
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes {1,304) (32) - -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year B 49,798 31857 3M 75

Consoidated and company cash flow staternent
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Notes to the consolidated and company cash flow statement
Year ended 30 Apnl 2007

A Cash generated from/{used n) operations

Group Company
2006
£000
2007 Restated 2007 2006
£1000 Nota 4 £000 £000
Profit for the year from continuing operations 28,735 20,201 4,935 4,896
Adjustments for
Taxation 13,060 9,460 - -
Depreciation 3,051 2.579 - -
Share of profit In assccated undertakings (6,514) (4,684 - -
Income from other fixed asset nvestments (3,893) {1,504} - -
Net finance expense/{incomea) 763 (289) 126 115
Profit on sale of Investments - - - {8)
(Profit)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (90) 42 - -
Decrease \n provisions (1,381) (465) - -
Operating cash flow before movements in working capital 33,731 25,340 5,061 5,003
(increase)/decrease In work In progress (2,250) 648 -
(Increase)/decrease in recevables (24,287) (15,433) (22,787) 358
Increase/(decrease) in payables 18,965 16,711 1,768 (1,666)
Cash generated from/(used ) operations 26,159 27,266 (15,958) 3,695
B Analysis of movement in net funds
A1 May
2006 Other
£000 noncash  At30 Apnl
Restated Cash fiows changes 2007
Note 4 000 £000 £1000
Analysis of movement in net funds
Cash and cash equivalents 31,857 19,245 {1,304) 49,798
Bank loans after one year (750} (23,861) 750  (23,861)
Bank loans within one year (750) (440) (750)  {1,940)

30,357  (5056) (1,304) 23,997

48 | DTZ Holdings plc Annual report and accounts 2007 Notes to the consolidated and company cash flow statement




Consolidated statement of recognised income and expense

Year ended 30 Apnl 2007

2007 2006
£1000 £000
Net actuanal profit on retirement benefit obligation 2,139 1,540
Net revaluation of other investments - (300)
Net revaluation of interest rate swap (197) -
Foreign exchange translation differences (1,065} £92
Net income recogrused directly in equity 877 1,832
Tax on tems directly taken to reserves 1756 -
Transfers from reserves to Income statement (563) (563)
Proht for the year from contnuing operations {(pefore dvidends) 28,735 20,201
Total recognised income and expense for the year 29,224 21,470
Adoption of I1AS32 and IAS39 - 1,426
20,224 22896
Attnbutable to
Equrty shareholders of the parent 26,369 21,660
Minonty interest 2,855 1,236
29,224 22,896

Consolidated staternent of recognised income and expense
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Notes to the accounts

1 General information

DTZ Holdings plc 18 a company incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Comparves Act 1985 The address of the registered
office 1s One Curzon Street, London W1A 5PZ DTZ Holdngs pic {'the company’) and its subsichanes (together ‘the group’) are one
of the world's leading real estate advisers, providing innovative real estate and business solutions  Further information regarding the
nature and of the group’s operations and its principal actnvities are set out in note 5 and in our performance and financial review on
pages 12 to 25

These financial statements are presented in pounds sterling because that 1$ the currency of the primary econormic environment In which
the group operates Foreign operations are ncluded in accordance with the pohcies set out In note 2

2 Significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The consohdated financial statements of the group have been prepared n accordance with International Financial Reperting Standards
(IFRS) as adopted by the Eurcpean Union (EU) and therefore comply with Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulation and those parts of the
Companies Act 1985 appiicable to companies reporting under IFRS The group's financial statements are afso consistent with
International Fnancial Reporting Standards as 1ssued by the International Accounting Standards Board

During the year, the IASB and IFRIC have 1ssued the following standards and nterpretations with an effectve date after the date of these
financial statements

Eftectve date
International Accounting Standards (IAS/IFRSs)
IFRS7 Financial Instrument Disclosure 1 January 2007
IFRS8 Operating Segments 1 January 2009
14523 Borrowing Costs 1 January 2009
{revised March 2007)
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)
IFRICO Reassessment of Embedded Dervatves 1 June 2006
IFRIC10  Intenm Financial Reporting and tmparment 1 Novernber 2006
IFRIC11  IFRIC 2 Group and Treasury Share Transactions 1 March 2007
IFRIC12  Service Concession Arrangements 1 January 2008

The group will adopt the new standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective However, the directors do not
anticipate the adoption of these standards and interpretations will have a matenal impact on the group's financial statements in the
penod of inital application

Accounting convention
The financial statements are prepared under the histoncal cost convention except for the revaluation of unlisted nvestment which are
held at ther far value under 1AS32 and IAS39

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the company its subsidiary and joint venture undertakings,
fogether with the group’s share of results of its associates

A subsidiary 13 an entity controlled by the company Control 1s achieved where the company has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtan benefits from its actvities

The resutts of subsidiares acquired or disposed of dunng the year are ncluded in the consolidated ncome statement from the effectve
date of acquisition or up to the effectve date of disposal

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidianes to bnng ther accounting policies nto line with those
used by other members of the group  All ntra-group transacthons, balances, ncome and expenses are elminated on consolidation

Investments in associates

An associate 1s an entrty over which the group has significant iInfluence and that i1s netther a subsidiary nor an interest i a joint venture
Significant influence 1s the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or

Jjoint conirol

The results, assets and labilises of associates are incomorated in the financial statements using the equity method of accounting
Under this method investments in associates are camed in the consolidated balance sheet at cost as adusted for post-acquisition
changes n the group’s share of the net assets of the associate, less any imparment in the value of Indvidual investments Losses of
an associate in excess of the group’s interest in that associate are not recognised The group’s share of profit, net of tax, 1s recognised
n the income statement

Where a group entity transacts with an assocate of the group, profits and losses are eiminated to the extent of the group’s Interest In
the relevant associate
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2 Significant accounting policies continued

Interests Iin joint ventures

A jont venture 1$ a contractual arrangement whereby the group and other parties undertake an economic actmty that 1s subject to
jeint control, that 1s when the strategic financial and operating policy decisions relating to the actmvities require the unanimous consent
of the parties sharng control Joint ventures are accounted for using the proportionat consolidation method The group’s share

of assets, labibes, revenues and expenses of the joint venture are combined line by ine with similar tems in the group’s

financial statements

Revenue recogmtion
Revenue 1s measured at the far value of the consideration receved or recenvable Revenue compnses commissions and fees recevable |
from agency and professional actvities, exclusive of sales-related taxes and amounts due to third parties

Agency commissions are recognised ether on the unconditional completion of a contract or when a fee 1s contractually due
Professional fees are recognised on completion of the assignment

Goodwill

Goodwill ansing on conschdation represents the excess of the cost of acquistion over the group's interest in the far value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, associate or jontly controlled entity at the date of acquisition Goodwill 1s intialty
recognised as an asset at cost and I1s subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated imparrment losses

Goodwl 1s reviewed for mparment at least annually Any impairment oss is recognised immediately in the Income staterment and 1s
not reversed in a subsequent penod

Goodwill iIn respect of subsidiaries 1s included in Intangible fixed assets Goodwill relating to associates 1s included within the carrying
value of the associate

For acguisitions that completed prior to 30 April 1998, goodwill was written off directly to reserves in the year in which it arose
Gooowill acquired from 1 May 1998 to 30 Apnl 2004 was capitalised and amortised over its useful economic ife Goodwill ansing on
acquisitions before the date of transiion to IFRS has been retaned at the previous UK GAAP carmying value subject to being tested
for mpairment at that date Goodwll previously witten off directly to reserves has not been renstated and will not be ncluded n
determining any profit or loss on disposal of the entrty to which it relates

Intangible fixed assets

Licences are classed as intangible fixed assets as per IAS38 As such they are measured inmally on the balance sheet at the carryng
value at the date of transition to IFRS and thereafter amortised over a pencd reflecting therr vatue to a maximum of 10 years At each
balance shest date the group reviews the carrying amounts of s ntangible fixed assets to determine whether there 1s any indication

of an impairment loss

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equpment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any related impairment losses

Depreciation 15 provded so as to wiite off the cost of tangble fixed assets over their estmated useful ives, on a straight-ne basis,
using the following rates ‘

Long and short leaseholds over term of lease
Fumrure and equipment 10% to 33% per annum
Motor vehucles 20% to 25% per annum

Provision 1s made for asset imparment f the asset's recoverable amount (the higher of net realisable value and value in use) falls below
its carrying value

Work in progress

Work in progress 1s recognised in relation to professional activiies over the duration of the assignment and 1s stated at the lower of cost,
ncluding attnbutable overheads, and net realisable value No account Is taken of work in progress relating to agency actwvities if the
recovery of such costs 15 contingent upon the successful completion of the transaction

Taxation
The tax charge compnses current tax payable and deferred tax The current tax charge represents an estimate of the amounts payable .
to tax authorties in respect of the group’s taxable profits

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilties n the financial staterments and the
corresponding tax bases used n the computation of taxable profit, and 1s accounted for using the balance sheet habilty method
Deferred tax labilties are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to

the extent that 1t 1s probable that taxable profits wilt be avalable aganst which deductible temporary differences can be utilsed
Such assets and labilities are not recogrised if the temporary difference anses from goodwill or the nial recogrition (other than n
a business combination) of other assets and llabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit

Deferred tax labilties are recognised for taxable temporary differences ansing on mnvestments in subsidianes and associates, and interest
i joint veniures, except where the group 1s able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and ¢ 1s probable that the temporary
difference will nat reverse in the foreseeable future

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets Is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it 1s no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profiis will be avalable to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the penod when the lability s settled or the asset realised
Deferred tax s charged or credited to the income staterment, except when 1t relates to items charged or Credited drrectly to equity,
in which case the deferred tax 1s also dealt with In equity
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2 Significant accounting policies continued

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are recarded at the rate of exchange at the date of the transaction At each batance sheet date,
monetary assets and habilities that are denorminated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet
date Gans and losses ansing on retranslation are included in the income statement

For the purpose of presenting conselidated financial statements, the assets and liabilties of the group’s foreign operations are
expressed In stering using exchange rates prevaling on the balance sheet date Income and expense items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period Exchange differences ansing are classified as equity and transferred 1o the translation reserve
Such translation differences are released to the income statement in the penod in which the foreign operation 1s disposed of

Goodwill and far value adjustments ansing on the acquistion of a foreign operation are, after the date of transaction, treated as assets
and liabiities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the peried in which they are incurred

Financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilties are recognised on the group’s balance sheet at far value when the group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument

Trade receivables

Trade recevables are measured at inmal recognition at far value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method Appropniate allowances for estimated irecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset 1s impared The allowance recognised 1s measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amaount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at inihia! recognition

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and demana depostts, and other short-tem highly iquid investments that are readity
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an nsignificant nsk of changes n value

Bank borrowings

Interest-bearing bank Ioans and overdrafts are intally measured at far vaiue, and are subseguently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the settlerment or redemption

of borrowings 1 recognised over the term of the borrowings In accordance with the group's accounting policy for bomowing costs
(see above)

Trade payables
Trade payables are intially measured at far value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method

Investments

Investments are recogrised and derecognised on a frade date where a purchase or sale of an nvestment 1s under a contract whose
terms require delvery of the Investment within the tmeframe established by the market concerned, and are infially at cost ncluding
transaction costs

Investments are classified as ether held-for-trading or avatable-for-sale, and are measured at subseqguent reporting dates at far value
Where securtties are held for trading purposes, gains and losses ansing from changes i far value are included in net profit or loss

for the penod For avalable-for-sale investments, gains and losses ansing from changes In far value are recognised directly In equity,
untll the securtty 1s disposed of or 1s determined o be Impared, at which tme the cumulatve gain or loss previously recognised In
equity 1s iIncluded in the net profit or loss for the penod Impairment losses recognised In profit or loss for equity investmenits classified
as avalable-for-sale are not subsequently reversed through profit or loss Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss for debt
instruments classified as avalable-for-sale are subsequently reversed if an Increase in the far value of the nstrument can be objectively
related to an event occurning after the recognition of the impairment loss

Retirement benefit cbligatons

Retrernent benefit obligations to employees are provded by three principal schemes, which are funded by contributions from certain
group companies and employees Payments are made in accordance with penodic calculations by a professionally qualified actuary
Contributions to the defined contribution schemes are charged as an expense on a payments basis

For the defined benefit scheme, the cost of providing benefits 1s calculated by a professionally qualified actuary using the projected unit
credit method Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full n the penod in which they occur and are presented in the statement of
recogrised income and expense

The retrement benefit abligations recogrised in the balance shest represent the present value of the defined benefit obiigations
determined by discounting the estimated future cash flows using the rate of Interest or a high qualty corporate bond less the far value
of scheme assets

Capitalised pension liability

Provision 1s made for the capitaised value of future pensions payable to certan former partners and widows of the Bernard Thorpe
pantnership This is calculated in accordance with adwice provided by Lane Clark & Peacock, professionally gualfied actuanes, on bases
appropriate as at the year-end date In the event of a permanert dminution In the profits of the group, the liability would substantially
reduce The deferred tax asset relating o this liability & recognised within non current assets Payments n respect of these pensions
are charged to the provision
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2 Significant accounting policies continued

Leasing

Assets held under finance leases and the related lease oblgations are recorded n the balance sheet at the far value of the leased
assets at the inception of the leases The excess of each lease payment over the recorded lease obligations s treated as a finance
charge which 1s amortised over each lease term to give a constant rate of charge on the remaning balance of the obligation
Rental costs under operating leases are charged 1o the income statement N equal annual amounts over the perod of the leases

Benefits receved and recevable as an incentive to enter nto an operating lease are spread on a straight-ine basts over the lease term

Share-based payments
In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS1, IFRS2 has been appiied to all grants of equity mstruments after 7 November
2002 that had not vested as of 1 May 2006

The group Issues share option awards to certain employees and senior executves on a penodic basis under the COSOP The awards
are measured at far value at the date of the grant and are expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting penod, based on the
group's estimate of shares that will eveniually vest

The far value of the share awards 1s determined using the Black-Scholes eption valuation method

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the group has a present cbligation as a result of a past event, and it 1s probable that the group will
be required to settle that ohiigation Provisions are measured at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
obligation at the balance sheet date

Denvative financial instrument and hedge accounting

The group's actviies expose it pnmarly to the financial nsks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates
The group uses interest rate swap contract to hedge these exposures The group does not use dervatve instruments for
speculative purposes

The use of financial dervatives 1s governed by the group’s policies approved by the board of directors, which provides written principles
on the use of financial denvatives

Changes in the far value of dervative financial mstruments that are designed and effective as hedges of future cash flows are
recognised directly n equity and the ineffective portion I1s recognised immediately in the smcome statement I the cash flow hedge

of a firm commitment or forecasted transaction results In the recognition: of an asset or a liahilty, then at the time the asset or liability

Is recognised, the associated gain or loss on the dervative that had previously been recognised In equity are included v the indial
measurement of the asset or kabilty For hedges that do not result in the recognition of an asset or a liability, amounts deferred in equity
arg recognised n the Income statement in the same penod in which the hedged tem affects net profit or loss

Changes in the far value of dervatwve financial Instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in the income
statement as they anse

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for smilarly to cash flow hedges Any gain or 10ss on the hedging
instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge 1s recognised in equity In the foreign currency translation reserve The gain or
loss relating to the ineffective portion 1s recogrised in profit or loss Gains and losses deferred n the foreign currency translation reserve
are recognised in profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation

Hedge accounting s discontnued when the hedging nstrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for
hedge accounting At that trme, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging nstrument recognised in equity 15 retained in equity until the
forecasted transaction occurs If a hedged transaction is no longer expected to oceur, the net curmulatve gain or oss Is transferred to
net profit or loss for the period

3 Cntical accounting judgements and key sources of eshmation uncertainty

The preparation of the financial statements necessitates the use of estmates, assumptions and judgements These estimates,
assumptions and judgements affect the repeorted amounts of assets, liabilties and contingent liabilites at the balance sheet date
as well as affecting the reported ncome and expenses for the year Detalls of these estimates, assumptions and judgements are
discussed below

Imparment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill 1s impatred requires an estimation of the value-in-use of the cash-generating units to wihich goodwaill
has been allocated The value-in-use calculation reguires the group to estmate the future cash flows expected to anse from the
cash-generating untt and a surtable discount rate n order to calculate the present value Actual outcomes could vary significantly
from these estmates Refer to note 14 to the financial statements for estrmates used in this analysis

Retirement benefit obligations

The group operates a number of defined benefit pension schemes as descrbed in note 27 to the financial statements The assets of
the Schemes are measured at ther far value at the balance sheet date Scheme llabiities are measured using the projected unit credit
method, which takes account of projected earmings ncreases, using actuanal assumptions that give the best estimate of the future
cash flows that will anse under the Scheme labilties These cash flows are discounted at the interest rate applicable to hugh-quality
corporate bonds of the same currency and term as the babilities Any surplus or defict of Scheme assets over liabilities 1s recognised
In the balance sheet as an asset (surplus) or lability {defict) In determining the value of Scheme liabilties different assumptions could
significantly alter the amount of the deficit recogrised in the balance sheet and the pension cost ¢harged to the income statement
The assumptions adopted for the group's pension schemes are set out n note 27 to the financial statements
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3 Cnitical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty continued

Income taxes
As the group operates across many income tax junsdictions, judgement is required in detemrmining the worldwide prowision for
income taxes

Far value of assets avalable-for-sale
The far value of assets avalable-for-sale that are not traded in an active market s determined by using valuation techniques The group
has used discounted cash flow analysis for those avallable-for-sale assets not traded in an actve market

4 Changes 1n accounting policy

Ounng the period ending 30 Apnl 2007, DTZ changed s accounting policy for the recognition of its interest in jointly controlled entties
Under 14531 ‘Interests in Joint Ventures' there are two methods available for the recognition of an interest in a joint venture, the equity
method or proportional consolidation

In previous peniods, DTZ has accounted for joint ventures using the equity method, thereby showing the interest as an investrnent,
which 1s adjusted by DTZ's share of post acquistion changes in net assets of the joint venture DTZ's share of the profit or foss in the
jont venture 1s included in the profit of the DTZ group

DTZ has now changed this treatment to proportional consolidation, where DTZ's share of the assets, llabiities, revenues and expenses
of the joint venture are combined tne by line with similar tems in DTZ's consoldated financial statements  The board Judges that the
new policy 1s preferable because t results n a more transparent treatment of jont venture interests The comparative balance shests
and income statements have been restated, however there i1s no overall effect on the net assets or profits of the group

5 Segmental analysis

For management purposes, the group 1s curmently organised into three operating dwvisions — EMEA Asia Pacrfic and The Amercas
These dmsions are the basis on which the group reports its pnmary segment iInformation, however for disclosure purposes, the UK
& Ireland has been separately analysed In addmion, the group operates five business lines across each geographic segment

Year ended 30 Apnl 2007

UK & EMEA {ax UK The Corporate
ioland  Alreland) Total EMEA AsiaPacfic  Amercas  overheads Consolidated
£000 £°000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Revenue
External sales
Capital Markets 42,554 35,031 78,585 8,463 7,475 - 94,523
Valuation 37,645 13,280 50,925 7,293 - - 58218
Occupational & Development Markets 45117 27,856 72973 14,447 - - 87,420
Professional Services 34,051 7,067 41,118 6,546 - ~ 47,664
Consutting & Research 16,669 3,120 19,789 2,648 - - 22437
Total external sales 176,036 87,354 263,390 39,397 7,475 - 310,262
Total revenue 176,036 87,354 263,390 39,397 7,475 - 310,262
Result
Operating profit/floss) 30,075 7,080 37,165 1,351 (2,160) (4,205) 32,151
Share of profits in associated undertakings 301 6,172 6,473 4 - - 6,514
Total profit from operations including joint ventures
and asscciated undertakings 30,376 13,262 43,638 1,392 (2,160) (4,205) 38,665
Income from other fixed asset investments 24 8 16 43 - 3834 3,893
Net finance Income/(expense) 781 322 1,103 (366) (1,500) - {763)
Profit on ordinary actmities before taxation 31,181 13,576 44,757 1,069 {3,660) (371) 41,795
Taxation on profit on ordinary actmties {13,060)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 28,735
Other information
Segment assets™ 107,574 73,345 180,919 68,919 30,353 - 280,191
Investment in equity method associates 1,258 6,139 7,397 87 - - 7,484
Consolidated total assets 287,675
Segment kabilties (99,785) (37,713) (137,498) (28,064) (10,004) - (175,566)
Consolidated total habilies {175,566)
Capral additions® 1,148 1,892 3,040 1,048 1,293 - 5,381
Depreciation 1,671 702 2,373 533 145 - 3,051

(1) Dweciors believe it 15 not practcal to aliocate assets or capial addiions on a secondary segrmental basis
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5 Segmental analysis continued
Year ended 30 Apnl 2006

lrifng Total EMEA Consoliiated
Rl Biay  Fewmad  AmPack  Amn ool Resamed
Note 4 £ 000 Note 4 £000 £000 £000 Note 4
Revenue
External sales
Capital Markets 40,259 21482 61,723 2,624 - - B4345
Valuation 31,975 9,800 41,875 1,329 - - 43204
Occupational & Development Markets 45492 20,758 66,250 4,533 - - 70,783
Professional Services 29,907 5,321 35,228 2,153 - - 37,381
Consutting & Research 15,237 1,351 16,588 68 - - 16,656
Total external sales 162,870 68,792 221662 10,707 - - 232,369
Total revenue 162,870 58,792 221,662 10,707 - - 232,369
Result
QOperating profit/(loss) 24,095 2,631 26,726 (16) - (3,526) 23,184
Share of profits in associated undertakings 124 4,374 4,498 186 - - 4,684
Total profit from operatons including jont ventures
and associated undertakings 24,219 7,005 31,224 170 - (3,526) 27,868
Income from other fixed asset nvestments 26 - 26 261 - 1,217 1,504
Net finance income/{expense) 455 48 503 (214) - - 289
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 24,700 7,053 31,753 217 - 2,309y 29,661
Taxation on profit on ordinary actvities (9,480
Profit for the year from continuing operations 20,201
Other information
Segment assets™ 84,080 66,741 150,831 18,078 - - 168,909
Investment In equity method associates 1,068 5,272 6,340 3,386 - - 9,726
Consolidated total assets 178,635
Segment labiities (80,084) (26,324) (106,408)  (6,685) - - {113,093
Consolidated total lebilbes (113,093)
Caprttal addittons™ 2,077 852 2,929 533 - - 3,462
Depreciation 1,833 589 2,422 157 - - 2,579
(1) Dwrectors believe 1t 15 not practicat to allocate assets or captal adciions on a secondary segmentat basis
6 Staff costs
2007 ezg
£1000 Restated
Staff costs during the year
Wages, salares and performance-related payments 164,609 118,801
Soctal secunty costs 20,707 17,472
Other penston costs 9,769 7,847
Share-based payments 140 97

195,225 144,237

Dunng the year the group employed an average of 3,993 staff (2008 2,398} including directors Of this number, 3,485 {2008 2,121)
were Involved in the professional side of the group's actvities and 508 (2006 277) were involved in central support functions
At 30 Apnl 2007, the group employed 5,565 staff (2006 2,682}

Detals of the directors' emcluments and share ophons required by the Companies Act 1985 are included i the directors’ remuneration
report, which forms part of these financial statements
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6 Staff costs continued
Key management compensation

2007 2006
£000 £000

Key management
Remuneration 3,603 2,252
Fees to non-executive directors 208 208
Post employment benefits 530 925
Share-based payments - 11
4,341 3,396

Key management are those persons having authornty and responsibiity for planning, directing and controlling the actwvities of the entity
and include executive and non-executive directors and a member of senior management

7 Operating profit 2006
o7 Fosaed
£000 Nota 4

Operating profit 1s stated after charging/{crediting)
(Proffioss on disposal of tangible fixed assets (90} 42
Depreciation on tangble fixed assets

Owned assets 3,051 2,579
Rentals under operating leases

Land and buldings 11,302 9,146

Others 4,970 4,243
The analysis of the audtors’ remuneration is as follows
Fees payable to the company’s auditors for the audt of the company’s annual accounts 126 80
The audrt of the company's subsidianes pursuant to legislation 469 204
Total audtt fees 595 284
Cther services pursuant to legislation 19 =1
Tax services 385 237
Information technology services 394 151
Corparate Finance services 28 70
Other services 24 46
Total non-audtt fees 850 555
Total fees 1,445 839

56 | OTZ Hokdngs plc Annual report and accounts 2007 Notes to the accounis




8 Income from other fixed asset investments

2007 2006
£000 £000
Profit on sale of investment n Curzon Capital Partners (CCP") 735 -
Incentwve fee distnbutions recenved from CCP 3,000 -
Profit from substantiaf realisation of interest n CCP 3,834 -
Proft en sale of investment in Investment Property Databank - 809
Profit on sale of other nvestments - 83
Distnibutions from other fixed asset investments 59 612
3,893 1,604
9 Net finance (expense)/income

228%
2007 Restated
£1000 Note &
Bank interest receivable 954 726
Other interest recevable 422 314
Total finance iIncome 1,376 1,040
Barik loans and overdrafts — interest payable (2,139) {751)
Total finance expense (2,139) {751)
Net finance (expense)/income {763) 289

10 Taxation on profit on ordinary activities
2007 2006
£000 £000
UK comoration tax at 30% {2006 30%) based on the profit for the year (8,429) (5,450)
Overseas taxation (7,209) (4,329)
Double taxation relief 1,410 984
(14,222) {8,795)
Deferred taxation — ongnation and reversal of tming differences 1,162 {665)

(13,060) (9,460

Factors affecting tax charge for the year
The tax assessed for the period is higher than that resufting from applying the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 30%
(2006 30%) The differences are explaned below

2007 2006

£000 £000
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 41,795 29,661
Tax at 30% thereon (12,538) (8,898
Effects of
Expenses not deductible for tax pumoses {771} {773
Overseas tax rates 249 (159)
UK dmdend income - 370
Total tax charge for the year (13,060 (9,460)

The effective tax rate for the year 1s 31 25% (2006 31 89%;)

Factors that may affect the future tax charge
The group operates in couniries where the tax rate may be different to the UK corporate rate tax of 30%

A deferred tax asset has not been recognised In respect of tming differences relating to all rading losses in overseas subsidianes
as there 1s insufficient evidence that the asset will be recovered The amount of the asset not recognised 1s £1,400,000 {2006
£3,700,000} The asset will be recovered If sufficient sutable profits are made In the future against which the asset could reverse
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10 Taxation on profit on ordinary activities continued

Deferred tax
2007 2006
£7000 £000
Movermnent on deferred tax balance in the penod
Deferred tax asset
At 1 May 5,761 7,491
Charge to reserves (1,346) (660)
Reduction in corporation tax liability {405) (403)
Acqurred with subsidiaries 459 -
Credit/(chargs) to profit and loss account 1,162 {685)
At 30 April 5,631 5,761
Deferred tax lability
At 1 May (334) (93)
Credit to reserves 261 (241)
At 30 April 73) {334)
Analysis of deferred tax balance
Capttal allowances in excess of depreciation 95 95
Retrement benefit obligations 1,095 2,760
Short-term timing differences 2,341 1,955
Overseas losses 2,100 951
Deferred tax asset 5,631 5,761
Revaluation reserve 73) 2a1)
Undistrbuted profits within equity accounted non-UK investments - (93)
Deferred tax liabilty 73) (334)

Deferred tax assets have been recognised In respect of temporary differences and overseas losses, where 1t 1s probable that these
assets will be recovered

11 Results of the parent company
As permiited by Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the profit and loss of the parent company 1s not presented as part of these
accounts The parent company’s profit for the financial year after taxation amounted to £4,935,000 (2006 £4,896,000)

12 Equity dividends
2007 2007 2006 2006
Per share £'000 Per share £000
Final 2006 {2005) 700p 3,613 500p 2475
Intenm 2007 (2006} 350p 1,905 275p 1,403

1050p 5518 7750 3,878

Proposed final dividend for the year ended 30 Apnl 2007 of 8 00 pence
The final dvidend in respect of Aprl 2007 1s to be proposed at the Annual General Meeting on 6 September 2007
These financial statements do not reflect this dvdend payable
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13 Earnings per ordinary share
The basic earnings per ordinary share have been calculated using the weighted average number of shares in 1ssue of 52,407,300 for
the year to 30 Apnl 2007 (30 Apnl 2006 50,075,472}, and the profit for the financial year of £25,880,000 (2006 £18,965,000}

The diluted earnings per ordinary share are based on 53,030,579 shares (2006 50,931,173}

2007 2006

£°000 £000
Profit for the financial year attnbutable to equity shareholders of the parent 25,880 18,965

Number Number

Average number of shares In issue 52,407,300 50,075,472
Share options 623,279 855,701
Diuted average number of shares in 1ssue 53,030,579 50,931,173
Basic earnings per ordinary share 49 38p 37 87p
Diuted earmings per ordinary share 48 80p 37 24p
14 Intangible assets Soodwl Uiconces Tota)

£000 £000 £000
Group
Cost
At 1 May 2005 - net book value on transition 28,91 1,835 30,746
Foreign exchange translation differences 165 58 223
Acquisition of subsidiaries 7,413 - 7,413
At 30 April 2006/1 May 2006 36,489 1,893 38,382
Foreign exchange translation differences (1,785} {30) {1,815}
Acquisition of subsidianes and joint venture interests 55,838 - 55838
Transfer from assocates 1,705 - 1,705
At 30 Apnl 2007 92,247 1,863 94,110
Goodwll

Goodwill 1s not amortised but the group tests goodwill annually for imparment with the recoverable amount being determined

from value n use calculations Value in use I1s determined through the analysis of discounted cash flow forecasts based on financial
forecasts approved by management which takes account of both past performance and expected future market developments
Management have used a pre-tax discount rate of 9 8%, equivalent to its weighted average cost of capital This has been
determined as reflecting curment market assessments of the time value of money and nisks specific to the industry and company
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15 Property, plant and equipment

Fumniture
oqu.pmaenm: Total
£000 £1000 Note 4 £000 Note 4
Group
Cost
At 1 May 2005 221 7523 12,230 135 20,109
Acquired with subsidiary - - 1,243 - 1,243
Transfer - - - 69 69
Additions - 996 2,456 10 3,462
Disposals - {287y (1,797} (108) {2,190}
Foreign exchange translation differences - 13 117 2 132
At 30 Apnl 2006/1 May 2006 221 8245 14,249 110 22,825
Acquired with subsichary - 1,327 3,872 325 5524
Additions - 924 4,415 42 5,381
Disposals (221) (266) 710 (68) (1,265)
Foreign exchange translation differences - 8) (120 (1) (129
At 30 Apnl 2007 - 10222 21,706 408 32,336
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 May 2005 (21) {47300 (8575 (105) (13,431)
Acquired with subsidiary - - (1,ic8 - (1,108
Transier - - - (69) {69)
Charge for year m {908)  (1,6860) y[)] (2,579)
Disposals - 219 1,690 a9 2,008
Forergn exchange translation differences - - 87 )] 93)
At 30 Apnl 2006/1 May 2006 22y (5419 (9,740 91) (15,272)
Acquired with subsidiary - {787y (2,380 (254)  (3.421)
Charge for year - 723) (2,299 (29) (3.051)
Disposals 22 169 493 59 743
Foreign exchange translation differences - 2 85 - 87
At 30 Apnl 2007 - (6,758) {13,841) (315) (20,914)
Net book value
At 30 Apnl 2007 - 3,464 7,865 93 11,422
At 30 Apnl 2006 199 2,826 4,500 19 7.553
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16 Investments in assocCiates

Group Company

Shares in
Share of Goodwall on assoctates
net assets of acquistion of Total and

associated associated associated subsideary
undertalangs undertakings undertakings  companes

£'000 £000 £000 £000
Cost

At 1 May 2005 5,036 3,268 8,304 15,514
Additions 74 146 220 16
Transfer from investments 11 - 1A -
Transfer to subsidianes {4) - 4 -
Exchange movements 84 12) 72 -
At 30 Apnl 2006/1 May 2006 5,201 3,402 8603 15530
Addtions 338 254 502 225
Disposals (207) {20) (227 -
Transfer to subsidiaries {1,190) (1,705) (2,895) -
Exchange movements (48) 2 (a4 -

At 30 Apnl 2007

4,096 1,933 6,028 15,755

Share of retaned profits/(losses) In associates

At 1 May 2005 365 - 365 -
Movement in the year 3,811 - 3,811 -
Transfer to subsidianes 20 - 20 -
Dvidend receved {3,153 - (3,153) -
Exchange movements 80 - 80 -
At 30 April 2006/1 May 2006 1,123 - 1,123 -
Movernent in the year 5,499 - 5499 -
Transfer to subsidianes 5885 - 585 -
Disposals 63 - 63 -
Dwvidend receved {5,694} - (5,684) -
Exchange movements (121) - (121) -
At 30 Apnl 2007 1,455 - 1,455 -
Net book value
At 30 April 2007 5,651 1,933 7,484 15755
At 30 April 2006 6,324 3,402 9726 15530
Details of prncipal subsidianes and asscciated undertakings are gven in note 28
Assocciates
The following information is given It respect of the group's share of all associates

o0 ex0
Assets 15,530 18,838
Liabilities (9,979) (12,514
Revenue 27,880 32,536
Profit 6,514 4,684

Nates 1o the accounts
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17 Cther investments - financial assets
Other investments

Group Company

Listed Unhsted Other
vastments  investments Total Investments
£000 £000 £1000 £000
Cost
At 1 May 2005 4 5797 5,801 4
Revaluation during the year - 413) {413) -
Addrtions - 218 218 -
Repayment of capral - (1,600) (1,600 -
Disposals 3) {836 (839) 3)
Transfer to associate - (11} {11) -
Transfer to subsidiary - (655} (655) -
Exchange movements - 3 1 -
At 30 Apnl 2006/1 May 2006 1 2,501 2,502 1
Additions - 872 872 -
Disposals - (2,1786) (2,178) -
At 30 Apnil 2007 1 1,197 1,198 1
Provision
At 1 May 2005 - 312 312) -
Transfer to subsidiary - 255 255 -
At 30 Apnl 2006/1 May 2006 - (57) 73] -
Addrtions - 8 (3] -
At 30 Apnl 2007 - (65} (65) -
Net book value
At 30 Apnl 2007 1 1,132 1,133 1
At 30 Apnl 2006 1 2,444 2,445 1

Investments are non interest beanng The directors consider that the camying values of all nvestments approximate therr far value

Additional investments

On 10 May 2006 the group acquired a 50% interest In Rockwood Reatty Associates LLC {(‘Rockwood’), a privately owned North
Amencan real estate capttal consultancy The inial consideration of US$H45 million (£24 3 millon) was satisfied by a cash payment
of US$36 milion (£19 5 million) and the 1ssuance of 637,647 shares and loan notes convertible into 105,965 shares {£4 6 million)
In addhion DTZ wilt make deferred payments, based on future EBITDA in 2007, 2008 and 2009, of which the present value of the
total payment 15 expected to be £5 2 milion

On 1 August 2006, the group acquired a further 26% 0 DTZ New Zealand ('DTZ NZ') bringing the total shareholding in this company
10 51% The consideration comprsed of a cash payment of £377,000

On 14 Decernber 2008, the group acquired the remaining 70% of DTZ Pacific Holdings ('DTZ PH'} that it did not already own

DTZ PH owns and operates DTZ across manland China, Hong Kong and Taswan The initial consideration of HK$356 9 million

(£23 3 milion) was satisfied by a cash payment of HK$63 3 milion (€4 1 milhion) and the issuance of 2,676,191 shares (£19 2 million)
of which 136,735 were Deferred Shares
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17 Other investments - financial assets continued

Cn acquistion dates the fair value of net assets acquired in the transactions, and the goodwill ansing, are as folows
Rockwood 0TZNZ DTZ PH Total
£000 £000 £ 000 £000

Fair value of net assets acquired

Property, plant and equipment 514 260 1,260 2,034
Cther non-current assets 410 155 647 1,292
Cash and cash equvalents 894 283 6,862 8,039
Other current assets 314 1,087 4,549 5050
Current liabilities (1,429 (887) (13,137 (15453
Tax habities ) 47y (1,435 (1,486
Non-current liabiities (138) (70) (33) (239
Net assets 563 781 (1,267) 57
Minonty interest - (383 - (383}
Goodwill 30,316 174 25273 55783
Total consideration 30,879 572 23986 55437
Total consideration
Consideration satisfied by cash 19,542 377 4,135 24,054
Transfer from investments - 195 410 605
Consideration satsfied by 1ssuing shares and loan notes convertible to shares 4,634 - 19,185 23819
Deferred consideration 5,226 - - 5,226
Acquisition costs 1,477 - 256 1,733
30,879 572 23986 55437
Net cash outflow ansing from acquisiion
Cash consideration paid {21,019) (377) (4,391) (25,787)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired 894 283 6,862 8,039
(20,125) ©4) 2471 {(17,748)
Net cash outflow after accounting for purchase of
Other investments (1,089)
Total (18,817)

The additions have been accounted for using the purchase method of accounting

The goodwil ansing on the acguistion of the above subsidianes and Joint venture are attributable to the antoipated future operating
synergies from the combination, the anticipated profitabilty from the exposure of the group's operations to new geographical markets,
and the consolidation of the group's offering to a global market

Rockwood contributed & loss of £3,660,000 to the group’s profit before tax for the penod between the date of acquisition and the
balance sheet date The conirbuted loss prior to finance charges was £2,160,000 Had the acquistion oceurred on 1 May 2008,

the estimated full year contribution to the group would not have been matenally different from the revenue of £7,475,000 and operating
loss before tax of £3,660,000 which was contnbuted to the group from the date of acquisition

DTZ NZ contnbuted £108,000 to the group’s profit before tax for the penod between the date of acauistion and the balance sheet date
Had the acguisttion eccurred on 1 May 2006, the estmated full year contribution to the group would have been revenue of £7,820,000
and operating profit before tax of £339,000

DTZ PH contributed a loss of £680,000 to the group’s profit before tax for the period between the date of acquisition and the balance
sheet date Had the acquisttion occurred on 1 May 2008, the estimated full year contribution to the group would have been revenue of
£37,332,000 and operating loss before tax of £635,000

In addition the group acquired interests in other subsidiaries resuting N goodwll of £75,000
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18 Trade and other recewvables

Group Compary
2006
2007 £000 2007 2006
£000 Restated 000 £000
Non-current
Cther 80 92 - -
Current
Fees recevable 86,095 62,562 - -
Amounts owed by subsidianes - - 66,551 21,786
Loans 26 1,130 - -
Cther debtors 6,266 2,565 - -
Prepayments and accrued income 18,766 11612 - -

111,153 77,869 66,5561 21,786

Trade and other recevables are non-interest bearing The directors consider that the carrying value approxmates therr far valug

19 Bank loans

Grown Company
2067 2006 2007 2006
£000 £ 000 £000 £000
Current
Bank Ioans due within one year or on demand
Unsecured 1,940 750 750 750
Non-current
Bank loans
Secured 23,861 750 23,861 750
The maturty of non-current borrowings are as follows
Between one and two years - 750 - 750
Between two and five years 23,861 - 23,861 -
23,861 750 23,861 750
The effective interest rate at the batance sheet dates was as follows o7 2006
Bank loans 593% 568%

Bank loans of £8,757 000 were arranged at fixed interest rates Al ther bonrowings are arranged at floating rates
The non-current lcans are secured by a charge over the shares in certan group companies
The directors consider that the carrying value of bank loans approximates therr far value

20 Trade and other payables o Compeny
2007 Ez% 2007 2006
€000 Restated £000 £000

Current

Cther loans 6,657 - - -

Amounts payable to subsidianes - - 487 281

Taxation and social securty 14,359 13,456 - -

Accruals and deferred income 101,118 71,204 - -

122,134 84,660 487 281

Non-current

Accruals and deferred income 4,556 5,429 857 -

Amount payable to subsidianes - - 900 -

4,556 5,429 1,757 -

Trade and other payables, with the exception of finance leases, are non-interest bearng The directors consider that the caryng value
of all financial labilities approximates ther far value
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21 Provisions

Accom-
Defered  modation
Current wwdemf& pm:t;gno gggg
Group
At 1 May 2005 - 354 354
Profit and loss charge - 214 214
Transfer from non-current - 723 723
Appled - (368} (368}
At 30 Apnl 2006/1 May 2006 - 923 923
Proft and loss (credit) - {56) 56)
Transfer from non-current 2,314 - 2,314
Appled - (483) {483)
At 30 Apnl 2007 2,314 384 2,698
Accom-
Defered  modation
Non-current m"”“"?-‘!& ""’“Sé% ;:;)I
Group
At 1 May 2005 4,250 1,665 5915
Deferred consideration on acquisition in year 3,899 - 3,800
Profit and loss charge - {101) (101)
Transfer to current - (723} (723)
At 30 Apnl 2006/1 May 2006 8,149 841 8,990
Deferred consideration on acquistions n year 5,188 - 5,199
Profit and loss (credrt) - @31 {831)
Transfer to current (2,314) - (2.314)
Applied (2,316} {100 (2.326)
At 30 Apnl 2007 8,718 - 8,718
Company
At 1 May 2005 4,250 - 4,250
At 30 Apnl 2006/1 May 2006 4,250 - 4,250
Applied (1,417 - (417
At 30 Apnl 2007 2,833 - 2,833

The opening deferred consideration batance relates to the pror year acguistions of Hodnett Martin Smith Limited, Grosvenor Hickey
Tindale Pty Limited and Edmund Tie & Company Limted Current year addtions relate to the deferred consideration associated with
the acquisition of DTZ Rockwood

Accommodation provisions represent provisions for onerous leases, N accordance with the requirements of IAS37 'Provistons,
contingent habiliies and contingent assets’
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22 Financial instruments

The group utiises financial dervatves when required to crystalise exposures on certan transactions denominated in foreign curencies
The group has nat entered Into any financial denvative contracts dunng the current or preceding year, other than the interest rate swap
noted below

The net amount of monetary assets and liabiities and the carmyng value of financial habilties at 30 April 2006 and 30 Apnl 2007
denominated in curencies other than the functional curencies of the operations involved were not significant

The group’s cash balances earn interest at rates Iinked {0 the base rate avalable
The total cash and cash equivalents held s as {ollows

April 2007 April 2006

Cash Nat cash Cash Net cash

and cash Bank and cash and cash Bank and cash

equvalents loans equivalents equalents loans equvalents

£000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000 £000

Euro 20,808 - 20,808 5878 - 5,878
Sterling 14,024 (750) 13,274 21,936 {1,500) 20,436
HKS 6,366 (6,346) 20 - - _
s$ 5141 - 5141 2,281 - 2,281
uss 1,448 (18,705) {17,256) 524 - 524
Aus$ 1,197 - 1,197 1,102 - 1,102
Others 813 - 813 136 - 136
49,798 (25,801) 23,997 31,857 {1,500) 30,357

The far values of the group's financial assets and habiliies, comprising investments, cash, bank loans, finance leases and other current
debtors and creditors are not matenaly different from thewr book values

Interest rate swaps

The group uses an interest rate swap to manage s exposure to interest rate movement on its bank borrowings  Contracts with nominal
values of US$17 5 milkon (€8 8 mihon} have fixed interest payments at an average rate of 5 4875% up until 2011 and have floating
interest recepts at US LIBOR plus 0 6%

The far value of the swap entered into at 30 Apnl 2007 1s estimated at US$393,000 (£197,000) These amounts are based on market
values of equivalent instruments at the balance sheet date The interest rate swap is designated and effective as cash flow hedges and
the far value thereof has been deferred n equity

Financial nsk management

The group has formal financial risk management policies which cover those financial nsks which are considered matenal to the group’s
operations and results These policies and lmits are reviewed annually and to ensure compliance, appropnate delegated authorties have
been set together with reporting procedures These policies include

* Foreign currency nsk The group publishes its resutts in stering but has a number of overseas businesses operating N foreign
currencies The group does not hedge the foreign exchange nsks ansing from the translation of overseas business results into sterling
but wall, within irmits agreed by the board, hedge against committed transaction foreign currency exposures and the translation
exposure of foreign currency denominated assets and liabilties,

« Interest rate nsk The group's guideline 1s that no more than 50% of net interest rate exposures on debt {net of any working
capital balances) should be at flcating rates At 30 Apnl 2007 the group had surplus funds of £23,997,000 net of borrowings
of £25,801,000,

» biquidity nsk The group maintains a debt to caprtal ratio that has flexbility to allow t to meet its strategic objectves In addiion,
pohcies have been set on borrowing levels to net cash requirements and covenants of financing sources to be used The group's
requirements are reviewed annually, or more ofien if the need anses, and at 30 Apnl 2007 the group, in addition to the surplus funds
referred to above, had committed facities of £28,326,000,

» Credit nsk The group's prnaipal finangial assets are bank balances and cash, trade and cther recevables and investments
The group’s credit nsk 1s pnmanly attributable to its trade recevables The amounts presented in the balance sheet are net
of allowances for doubtful recevables An allowance for mpairment 1 made where there 15 an dentified loss event, which,
based on previous expenence, 1s evidence of a reduction in the recoverabilty of the cash flows

The credit nsk on Iguid funds and denvative financial Instruments is imited because the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by nternational credit ratng agencies

The group has no significant concentration of credit nsk, with exposure spread over a farge number of counterparties and customers
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23 Called-up share caprtal

Number £'000
Authonsed ordinary shares of 5 pence
At 1 May 2006 and 30 Apnl 2007 68,000,000 3,400
Allotted and fully paid ordinary shares of 5 pence
At 1 May 2005 53,125,647 2,656
Shares ssued for cash In exchange for options exercised 570,252 29
At 30 Apnl 2006/1 May 2006 53,695,809 2,685
Shares issued for cash in exchange for options exercised 423,000 21
Shares 1ssued In connection with acquisition of a subsidiary 2,539,456 127
Shares 1ssued N connection with acquisiion of a joint veniure 637,647 32
At 30 Apnl 2007 57,296,002 2,865

Total market value for the shares 1ssued In exchange for options exercised was £429,000 {2006 £758,000) Total market value
for shares 1ssued in connection with the acquistion of a subsidiary was £18,475,000 (2006 £ni Total market value for shares issued
In connection with the acquisiton of a joirt venture was £3,974,000 (2006 £nil)

The DTZ Heldings plc Profit Shanng Scheme

The DTZ Holdings plc 1997 Profit Sharing Scheme (‘the Scheme’) was adopted on 15 December 1997 following approval by the
shareholders at the AGM on 10 September 1997 and by the inland Revenue The Scheme is operated at the discretion of the directors
wha in any year decide, subyect to Inland Revenue Imits, the total amount of profit to be contributed by the company and quaifying
subsidianes to the irustee of the Scheme for the acquisition of shares i the company The shares are then appropriated to participating
employees on the basis that the employees may be given at least one share for each share they purchase or provide from therr own
resources No such contribution was made in the year to 30 Apnl 2007 (2006 nil)

The DTZ Holdings plc 1987 Executive Share Option Scheme
Under the DTZ Holdings plc Executive Share Option Scheme (‘the Scheme?), certain executives of the group companies held options at
30 Apnl 2007 over nil ordinary shares as follows

Number Number
of shares of shares
Exercese 30 April 0 rpdl
Grant date COphon pencd pnce 2007 2008
7 February 1997 7 February 2000 to 6 February 2007 76 5p - 5.000
- 5,000
Reconciiabon of option movements over the year to 30 Aprl 2007 15 shown below

2007 2006
Weghted Weighted
Number average Number average
of shares exercise price of shares  exercrse pnce
QOutstanding at 1 May 5,000 765 30,000 725
Forfeted/expired - - - _
Exercised {5,000) 765 (25,000 77
Qutstanding at 30 April - - 5,000 765

Exercisable at 30 Apnl - - 5,000

Following the AGM on 10 September 1997, the above scheme was replaced by the DTZ Holdings plc 1987 Company Share Option
Plan and no further options will be granted under the Scheme
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23 Called-up share capital continued
The DTZ Holdings plc 1997 Company Share Option Pian (‘the COSOP’)

The purpose of the COSOP 1s to gve certain executives and senior employees of the group the apportunity to acquire shares in the

company on favourable terms  Under the COSOF, 963,498 options over ordinary shares are outstanding as at 30 April 2007

Number Number
bocse  mhed 30 A
Grary date Opon panod price 2007 2006
1 July 1998 i July 2001 to 30 June 2008 105p 10,000 10,000
30 June 1999 30 June 2002 t0 29 June 2009 126 5p 15000 20,000
6 July 2000 6 Juy 2003to 5July 2010 161 5p 30,000 50,000
31 July 2000 31 July 2003 to 30 July 2010 158p 10,000 10,000
13 July 2001 13 July 2004 to 12 July 2011 i625p 20,000 60,000
18 July 2002 18 July 2006 to 17 July 2012 5085p 15000 45000
11 July 2003 11 July 2007 to 10 July 2013 895p 80,000 418,000
23 January 2004 23 January 2007 to 22 January 2014 135p 6,125 6,125
16 July 2004 16 July 2007 to 15 July 2014 165 5p 239,002 254,002
16 July 2004 16 July 2007 to 15 July 2011 16550 10,998 10,998
26 January 2005 26 January 2008 to 25 January 2015 2t45p 13,986 13,986
7 July 2005 7July 2008t0 B July 2015 2285p 319,371 354,371
7 July 2005 7July 2008toBJuly 2012 2295p 63,120 63,129
19 January 2006 19 January 2009 to i8 January 2016 468p 6,410 6410
19 January 2006 19 January 2009 to 18 January 2013 468p 50,000 50,000
18 July 2006 18 July 2000 to 17 July 2016 650p 72,855 -
18 July 2006 18 July 2000 to 17 July 2013 650p 1,622 -
963,498 1,372,021
Reconciliation of option movernents over the year to 30 April 2007 1s shown below

mq;ﬁ Wa;:z:
Numbet average Number average
of shares exercise prce of shares  exercse pnce
Qutstanding at 1 May 1,372,021 1714 1,558,085 1286
Forfeted/expired {65,000} 1824 (129,722) 1417
Exercised {418,000} 1017 (545,252) 1358
Granted 74,477 6500 488,910 2570
Qutstanding at 30 Apnl 963,498 2379 1,372,021 171 4

Exercisable at 30 Apnl 186,125 195,000

The exercise of share options under the COSOP 1s subyect to performance targets aganst eamings per share

Following the AGM on 7 September 2008, the above scheme was replaced by the DTZ Heldings plc 2006 Company Share Option Plan

and no further options will be granted under the Scheme
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23 Called-up share capital continued
Far value of options at grant dates are

Grant diate Far vaue (o}
11 July 2003 147
23 Janwary 2004 296
16 July 2004 391
26 January 2005 522
7 July 2005 521
18 January 2006 134 0
18 July 2006 197 6

The DTZ Holdings plc 2006 Company Share Option Plan {‘the COSOP')
The purpose of the COSOP 1 to give certain executives and senior employees of the group the opporturity to acqure shares in the
campany on favourable terms Under the COSOP, 52,633 options over ordinary shares are cutstanding as at 30 Apnl 2007

Number Number
of shares of shares
Option Exercisa 30 Apnl 0 Aprl
Grant date penod prca 2007 2006
22 January 2007 22 July 2010 - 21 July 2017 725p 2,758 -
30 January 2007 30 July 2010 - 29 July 2017 69050 49,875 -
52,633 -

Recenciliation of option movements over the year to 30 Apnl 2007 1s shown below
2007 2006
Weightad Waerghted
Number avarage Number average

of shares exercise price ofshares  exercrse pice
Outstanding at 1 May - - - -

Forfeted/expired (2,625} 690.5 - -
Exercised - - - -
Granted 55,258 6920 - -
Cutstanding at 30 April 52,633 6920 - -
Exercisable at 30 Apni - - - -

The exercise of share options under the COSOP 1s subject to performance targets aganst earnings per share
Far value of options at grant dates are

Guant cate Fa vale (p)
22 January 2007 2265
30 January 2007 215 1

Farr value of options
Options for the DTZ Hokdings plc 1997 and 2006 Company Share Option Plan were valued at far value using the Black-Scholes model

The key assumptions used in the calculations were as follows

Risk free rate 4 7% - 5 2% pa depending on grant date and expected Iife

Volatiity 29 6% - 30 8% pa depending on grant date

Performance cntena  All vest after three years

The expected volatilty 1s based on histoncal volatility

The DTZ Holdings pic 2006 Co-investment and Long-Term Incentive Plans

Full details of the Co-investment Plan and Long-Term incentive Plan are included in the directors’ remuneration report on pages 32 to 39

The Co-investment Plan 1s available to a group of approxmately 21 senior executives including the executve drectors The maximum
number of shares awarded in 2007 s 109,939 (2006 nif) and no shares have vested The far value of the shares under the Plan is
based on the market price of the company’s ordinary shares at the date of the award Awards made under this Scheme are classified
as equity settled The expense recogrised in respect of these awards was £246,000 (2006 £nij)

Five senior executives (including the executve directors) were granted a conditional award of shares under the Long-Term Incentive
Plan The number of shares awarded in respect of 2007 15 103,412 (2006 nil) The far value of the shares under the Plan is based on
the market price of the company's ordinary shares at the date of the award All performance critena are expected to be met Awards
made under thus Scheme are classified as equity seftled The expense recognised in respect of these awards was £231,000 (2006 £nil

Notes 10 the accounts GFZ Holdings ple Annual report and accounts 2007 | 69




24 Reconciliation of movement in equity

Sharo

gt R i vt i o

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Group
1 May 2005 2656 15581 25385 1,704 1,476 46,812
Shares 1ssued for cash In exchange for options exercised 29 729 - - - 758
Employee share options - - - a7 - 97
Recognised income and expense - - 20,506 271) 1,236 21470
Equity dwvidends pad - - {3.878) - - {3.878)
Dridend paid to minortty interest - - - - (307} (307)
Moverment in minonty interest - - - - 580 580
30 Apnl 2006/1 May 2006 2685 16310 42,022 1,530 2,995 65542
Shares 1ssued for cash n exchange for options exercised 21 408 - - - 429
Shares issued in connection with acquistion of a subsidiary 127 18,348 - - - 18475
Shares 1ssued in connection with acquisition of a joint venture 32 3,842 - - - 3,974
Employee share options - - - 140 - 140
Recognised income and expense - - 25,880 489 2,855 29224
Equity dvidends paid - - (5.518) - - (5.518)
DOnvidend paid to minonty interest - - - - (410) {410)
Movement in minorty interest - - ~ - 253 253
30 Apnl 2007 2,865 39,008 62,384 2,159 5693 112,109
Company
1 May 2005 2655 15,581 11,348 - - 29,585
Shares ssued for cash in exchange for options exercised 29 729 - - - 758
Profit for the year - - 4,856 - - 4,896
Equity dvidends paid - - (3,878) - - (3.878)
30 Apnl 2006/1 May 2006 2685 16310 12,366 - - 31361
Shares ssued for cash in exchange for options exercised 21 408 - - - 429
Shares 1ssued n connection with acquistion of a subsidiary 127 18,348 - - - 18,475
Shares issued in connection with acquistion of a joint venture 32 3,942 - - - 3.974
Profit for the year - - 4,935 - - 4,935
Equity dwvidends paid - - (5,518) - - {5.518)
Foraign exchange translation - - - (666) - (666)
30 Apnl 2007 2,865 39,008 11,783 (666) - 52,990

Included N consolidated reserves 1s an amount of £21,407,000 (2006 £21,407,000) retating to goodwill written off in respect of
continuing businesses There are no restnctions on distrbutions of reserves within subsidiary or associated undertakings

Cther reserves include, revaluation reserves, foreign currency translation reserves and share-based payment reserves
Gains and losses on hedging instruments that are designated as hedges on net investments In foreign operations are included in the
foreign currency translation reserve

25 Financial commitments

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
£'000 £000 £'000 £°000

Capttal commitments contracied for but not provided in the financial statements 821 -

1
t

The company, together with other companies within the group, has given guarantees 1o the group's bankers in respect of amounts
advanced to the group under ts banking facilites No losses are expected to anse with respect to these guarantees

70 | DTZ Holdings ple Annual report and accounts 2007 Notes to the accounts




26 Operating lease commitments

2007 2006

Land and Land and
butidings Qther buildngs Other
£000 £000 £000 £000

Non-cancellable cperating leases are payable as follows

Within one year 15,164 3,621 8,015 3,630
Within two to five years 40,259 4117 32,494 4,296
After five years 46,333 25 45438 -

Operating lease commitments for land and buldings represent the group’s total lease liability to the end of each of the leases Whilst a
number of the leases contain several break clauses, 1 1s not the group's current intention to exercise these breaks, and therefore the full
cost, before minorty nterests, has been disclosed

27 Retirement benefit obligations

Within the UK the group operates two occupatonal pension schemes, onea of which {the DTZ 2002 Retrement Plan} provides benefits
based on final pensionable salary and 1s closed to new entrants, and the second being a defined contribution scheme In addmion the
group operates a personal pension plan open to employess not covered by the other two schemes The assets of all the pension
schemes are held separately from those of the group Provision 1s also made for the capitalised value of future pensions payable to
certan former partners and widows of the Bernard Thorpe partnership

Actuanal gans and losses are recognised in full in the penod In which they occur The group has adopted the revised version of IAS19
{Employee Benefits) published in December 2004 As permitted by the revised standard, actuanal gans and losses are recognised
outside profit or loss and presented n the statement of recognised income and expense The liabiity recognised in the balance sheet
represents the present value of the defined benefit abligation, as reduced by the far value of assets The cost of providing benefits is
determined using the projected unit credit methed

DTZ 2002 Retirement Ptan

The results of the formal actuaral valuation as at 30 Apnl 2005 were updated to the accounting date by an ndependent quatfied
actuary in accordance with the IAS19 As required by IAS19, the value of the defined benefit obligation and current service cost has
been measured using the projected untt credit method

The expected rate of return on assets for the financial year ended 30 Aprl 2007 was 6 4% pa (2005/06 6 4% pa) This rate 1s derved
by taking the weighted average of the long-term expected rate of return on each of the asset classes that the 2002 Plan was invested
in at 30 Aprl 2006

The amount of contributions pad to the 2002 Plan duning 2006/07 was £0 9 millon {2005/08 £0 8 million) and these are not expected
to matenally change in 2006/07

The 2002 Plan’s benefits were amended from 1 Apnl 2006 and these changes have been reflected in our caleulations accerdingly
The changes only affect pension earned after 1 Apnl 2006

The following table sets out the key IAS19 assumptions used

Assumptions 30 ApnI 2007 30ADMZ006 30 Apd 2005
Retaill price inflabon 30%pa 30%pa 28%pa
Discount rate 55%pa 52%pa 53%pa
Pension increases in payment

5% or inflabion 30% pa 30%pa 26%pa

2%% or inflation 22% pa 22%pa  22%pa
General salary increases 30%pa 30%pa 28%pa
Life expectancy of male aged 60 at balance sheet date 26.7 years 266 vyears 265 years
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27 Retirement benefit obligations continued

The amount in¢luded in the balance shest ansing from the group abligations in respect of the 2002 Plan 15 as follows
2002 Plan

30 Apr1 2007 30 Aprd 2006 30 Aprl 2005
£m €m £m

Present value of defined benefit obligation 478 494 439
Far value of assets (46 1) (43 5) (359
Liabilty recognised in the balance shest 17 59 80

In addibon the amount ncluded in the balance sheet ansing from the group’s cbligations N respect of the caprialised value of future
pensions payable to certain former partners and widows of the Bernard Thorpe partnership {{Bernard Thorpe Annuitants’) 1s as follows

Bemard Thorpe Annurarts

30 April 2007 30 Apri 20068 30 Apxil 2005

£m £m £m

Present value of defined benefit obligation 2.8 31 30
Far value of assets - - -
Liability recognised in the balance sheet 28 31 30

The amounts recognised in profit or loss are as follows
2002 Plan  Bernard Thorpe Annuitants

2006/07 2005/06 2006/07 2005/06

£m £m £m £m

Employer's part of current service cost 03 08 - -
Interest cost 25 23 01 02
Expected return on assets (28) 23 - -
Total expense ncluded in profit or loss 00 08 01 02

A reconcihation of the present value of the defined benefit obligation 1s as follows
2002 Ptan  Bemnard Thorpe Annudtants

2008007 2005/06 2006/07 200506

£m £ £m £m

Opening defined benefit cbigation 494 439 31 30
Employer's part of current service cost 03 08 - -
Interest cost 25 23 01 02
Contnbutions from members 0.1 01 - -
Actuarial {gains)losses (2.8} 35 (0.2) 01

Benefits pad 1.7 (12 (02 02
Closing defined benefit obligation 47.8 494 28 31

A reconciliation of the far value of the assets Is as follows
2002 Plan Bemard Thorpe Annuitants

2006/06 2005106 2006/07 2005106

tm £m £m tm

Cpening far value of the assets 43.5 359 - -
Expected return on assets 28 23 - -
Actuarial gans 06 57 - _
Contnbutions by the employer 08 07 - _
Contnbutions by members 01 01 - _
Benefits pad 1N (12 - _
Closing far value of assets 461 435 - —

The amount recogrsed outstde profit or loss In the statement of recogrised iIncome and expense for 2006/07 for the 2002 Plan 1s a
gain of £3 4 million (2005/06 £2 2 millon} This 1s the sum of actuanal gans and losses on the defined benefit cbligation and the assets
The figure for the Bernard Thorpe annurtants 1s a gan of £0 2 rmilion (20056/06 loss of £0 1 milion)

The actual return on the 2002 Plan's assets over the year was £3 4 milion {2005/06 £8 0 milton)
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27 Retirement benefit obligations continued
The current alocation of the 2002 Plan's assets s as follows

30 April 2007 30 Apri 2006 30 Aprl 2005

Equrty mstrumenis

53% 59% 61%

Debt instruments

47% 41% 39%

100% 100% 100%

2002 Ptan
30 ApI 2007 30 Apr 2006 30 Apnl 2005
£m £m m
Present value of defined benefit obligation 478 49 4 439
Far value of assets 46 1) (43 5) (359
Defiont 17 59 80
Bemard Thorpe Annutants
30 April 2007 30-Apd 2006 30 Aprl 2005
£m £m &m
Present value of defined benefit obligation 28 31 30
Far value of assets - - -
Deficit 28 31 30
The hustory of the Schemes 1s as follows
2002 Ptan Bemard Thorpe Annudants
2008/07 2005706 200405 2006/07 200506 2004705
£m Em £m om gm £m
Expenence adjustments on assets
Amount of gan 06) ©8) - - -
Percentage of assets (1%} (2%) - - -
Expenence adiustments on iabities
Amount of gan - 03 ©2 - 01
Percentage of the present value of the liabilites - (1%) 7% - {3%)

In accordance with the transitional provisions for the amendments to 1AS19 in Decernber 2004, the disclosures above are determined

prospectively from the 2004/05 reporting penod

In addtion to the UK defined benefit scheme, the group makes defined contnbutions to both UK and overseas company and statutory
pension schemes Total pension contnbutions to defined contnbution schemes were £9,734,000 (2006 £7,047,000)

Noles 10 the accounis
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28 Addhonal information on principal subsidianes, joint ventures and associated undertakings

Euaty held % Prncpal countnes

Nature of business {ordnary shares) of operation
Principal subsidianes
Incorporated in Great Britain
DTZ Debenham Tie Leung LUmited Property advisers 100° UK
DTZ Pieda Consutting Limried Consuttancy 100" Europe
DTZ International Limited Holding company 100~ Europe
DTZ Corporate Finance Limited Professtonal Services 100" UK
ncorpeorated i France
Financiere DTZ Jean Thouard SA Property advisers 100 France
Incorporated n Germany
DTZ Zadelhoff Holding GmbH Property advisers 100 Gemmany
Incorporated n The Netherlands
DTZ Central and Eastern Europe BV Property advisers 100 Eastern Europe
Fronton BV Property adwisers 100 The Netherlands
Zadehoff Participaties BY Property adwvisers 70 The Netherlands
Incorporated in italy
DTZ ltala Spa Property advisers 100 italy
Incorporated in Belgium
DTZ Belux Group SA Property adwisers 100  Belgum and Luxembourg
Incorporated in Spain
DTZ Ibenca Asesores Immobilianos Internacionales SA  Property advisers 100 Span
Incorporated in Austna
DTZ Austna GmbH Property advisers 86 Austria
Incorporated in Australia
DTZ Australa (vic) Pty Limited Property advisers 100 Australia
DTZ Australia (NSW) Pty Limited Property adwvisers 100 Australia
Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
EuroAsia Properties Limited Property adwvisers 70 Japan
Incorporated in Singapore
Edmund Tie & Company Holdings Pte Lid Property advisers 51" Singapore
Incorporated in India
DTZ International Property Adwsers Private Limited Property advisers 100 Incha
Incorporated in USA
DTZ Debenham Tie Leung inc Property adwisers 100 USA
Incorporated in Bahrain
DTZ Bahran WLL Property adwvisers 100 Bahran
Incorporated in the British Virgin Isiands
DTZ Pacific Holdings Limited Holding companies 100 Hong Kong and China
Incorporated in Hong Kong
DTZ Debenham Tie Lewng Limited Property advisers 100 Hong Kong
Incorporated in New Zealand
DTZ New Zealand Limited Property advisers 5™ New Zealand
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28 Addrtional information on principal subsidianes, joint ventures and associated undertakings continued

Equity held % Pnncipal countnes
Nature of business (ordinary shares) of operaton
Joint ventures
Incorporated in Great Britain
Buying Force Limited Senvice procurement 50 UK

Incorporated in USA
DT2 Rockwood Holdings LLC Property adwisers 50 USAa
Associated undertakings

Incorporated in the Republic of Ireland

DTZ Sherry FitzGerald Limited Property advisers 20" Repubiic of freland
Incorporated in Australa

DTZ Australa (WA) Pty Limited Property advisers 20m Australia
Incorporated in Sweden

DTZ Sweden AB Property adwisers 30 Sweden
Incorporated in Qatar

OTZ Qatar WLL Property adwisers 40 Qatar

“Owmed by parent * Year end 31 December ***Year end 30 June

The above mformation Includes the principat subsidianes of the group Al the UK group subsidianes will submit annual returns to the
Registrar of Companies as required by the Companies Act 1985

29 Related party transactions

The group prowded advisory services on an am’s-length basis for total fees of £688,000 to companies on which two board members
sit as non-executive directors A subsidiary company leases, on an arm'’s-length basis, an office at the annual rent of €199,000, from a
company controlled by one of the subsidianes’ executve directors

The group had outstanding loans to certain joint venture and associated companies i the sum of £779,000 as at 30 April 2007
All of these loans are on commercial terms

QOur jont venture partners have loaned DTZ Rockwood £2 mdion — our 50% share of this s reflected in credtors
Prior to the acquistion of DTZ Pacific Holdings a director, C Y Leung, lent that company £2,980,000 At 30 April 2007 this remained
outstanding A timetable {or repayment of this lkoan has been put in place

30 Share price
The mid-market price of the shares at 1 May 2006 and 30 Apnl 2007 was 643 0 pence and 596 0 pence respectively The share pnce
dunng the year ranged from 566 5 pence to 835 0 pence

31 Events occurnng after the end of the year
On 1 May 2007, DTZ International mited, a 100% subsidiary of DTZ Holdings plc, acquired an additional 16% interest in DTZ
New Zealand (Holdings) LUmited bnnging its total ownership level to 67% DTZ paid cash consideration of NZ$800,000 (£287,000)

On 29 June 2007, DTZ Internatonal Limited, a 100% subsidiary of DTZ Holdings plc, exercised an option to acquire an additional 50%
interest in DTZ Sweden AB bringing 1its total ownership level to 80% DTZ will pay a maximum consideration of SEK40,690,000
(£3,042,000}, which will be a mixture of cash and shares, consideration in the form of shares will be capped at 25% The deal wil
complete on or before 29 July 2007

On 2 July 2007, DTZ Australia Pty Limited, acquired 100% of the share capitat of Harlow Property Consultants, a property advisory
business based in Sydney Consideration of Aus $1,000,000 (£400,000) was paid in cash, with a maximum future deferred
consideration payable of Aus $1,500,000 (£600,000) dependent upon performance

The directors believe it 1s not practical to disclose the far value of acquired assets in the above acquisitions, as they had not been
finalised at the date of preparation of these accounts
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Five year record

Years ended 30 Apnl

The addmional infermation consisting of the five year record, the shareholder anatysis and financial calendar has been prepared from the
accounting records of the company Whilst it does not form part of the statutory financial statements, 1t should be read in conpunction
with them and the responsibilties section of the Audtors’ Report thereon

UK GAAP FRS

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

£000 £000 £ 000 £000 £000
Turnover 153,717 166,255 194,441 232,369 310,262
Operating profit 2,840 8,910 16,726 23,184 32,151
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 8359 11,024 20803 29,661 41,795
Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 3,559 5,676 12,821 20,201 28,735
Bastc earmings per ordinary share 656p 1081p 2475p 3787p 4938p
Dividends per ordinary share (net)
Intenm 2 25p 225p 250p 275p 3 50p
Final 4 00p 4 25p 500p 7 00p 8 00p
Year end share price 675p 1615p 1895p ©430p 5960p
Total assets 101,695 108,682 139,309 178,635 287,675
Net assets 46476 48355 45386 65542 112,109
Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and
amortsation (EBITDA’) 13636 16999 24015 31851 45,609
Net cash 4,334 6,628 13,981 30,357 23,997
Analysis of earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 2008 a0 o6 s007

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Profit on ordinary actvities before taxation 8,359 11,024 208603 29,661 41,795
Net finance expense/{income) 238 198 267 {289) 763
Pepreciation and impawrment 5,039 5777 3,145 2,579 3,051
EBITDA 13,636 169899 24015 31,951 45,609

The figures above have been extracted from the audited financiat statements of those years

“To be pad on 14 September 2007 f approved at the AGM on 6 September 2007, 10 the sharehaiders on the register at the closa of business on 17 August 2007
The ex-dwidend date 1s 15 August 2007

Shareholder analysis

As at 30 Apnl 2007

Number of Balznce as st
Shareholders by size holdings % 30 April 2007 %
1-500 1,130 5097 244,766 043
501-1,000 228 1028 183,355 032
1,001-5,000 434 1957 1,091,665 19
5,001-10,000 125 564 884,720 154
10,001-50,000 160 722 3,940,148 688
50,001-100,000 54 244 3,822,703 667
100,001-500,000 65 293 13,878,922 2422
500,001-1,000,000 11 050 7,679,756 i340
1,000,001 and over 10 Q45 25,569,967 44 63
Total 2,217 10000 57,206,002 10000
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Financial calendar

AGM

Thursday 6 September 2007 - 11 00 am at One Curzon Street, London W1A 5PZ

Results

To 31 October 2006 - Announced 17 January 2007

To 30 Apnl 2007 — Announced 4 July 2007

Dividends

Intenm 3 5 pence per share

Pad 16 February 2007

Final 8 O pence per share

Proposed 4 July 2007

Payable 14 September 2007

Advisers

Group company secretary
P M Cook

Independent auditors
Deiloitte & Touche LLP
Chartered Accountants

Registrars

Computershare Investor Services PLC
PO Box 82

The Pavillons

Bndgewater Road

Bristol BS99 7NH

Registered number
2088415

Registered office
One Curzon Street
London W1A 5PZ

www diz com

Financial advisers
Dresdner Kleinwort
Stockbrokers
JPMorgan Cazenove

Pnncipal bankers
The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc

Solicrtors
Cifiord Chance LLP

Design and production
Radiey Yeidar

Photography
Drrectors and boand by Liarm Bailey

Pnnt
cTD

Paper

ERA Silk, produced from $0% genune waste pulp
the balance being ECF pulp managed/cerified
sustanabie iorests Supported by ISO 14001
emamnmental management systems

Shareholder mforrmaton
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